
City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 10/5/2021 11:41 AM  

 

AGENDA 

CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION 
Thursday, October 7, 2021 – 7:00 PM 

 Chairperson Mick Routh 

 Commissioners Courtney Christiansen 

  Ed Newman 

  

 

Susan Westman 

Peter Wilk 

   

NOTICE OF REMOTE ACCESS ONLY: 
 
In accordance with the current Order from Santa Cruz County Health Services and Executive 
Order regarding social distancing, the Planning Commission meeting will not be physically open 
to the public and in person attendance cannot be accommodated. 
 
To watch: 

1. Attend Zoom Meeting (link and phone numbers below) 
 
To participate remotely and make public comment:  

1. Send email:  
a. Prior to the meeting day, send additional materials to the Planning Commission 

via planningcommission@ci.capitola.ca.us by 5 p.m. the Tuesday before the 
meeting and they will be distributed to agenda recipients.  

b. During the meeting, send comments via email to 
publiccomment@ci.capitola.ca.us    
▪ Identify the item you wish to comment on in your email’s subject line. Emailed 

comments will be accepted during the Public Comments meeting item. 
▪ Emailed comments on each General Government/ Public Hearing item will be 

accepted after the start of the meeting until the Chairman announces that 
public comment for that item is closed. 

▪ Emailed comments should be a maximum of 450 words, which corresponds 
to approximately 3 minutes of speaking time. 

▪ Each emailed comment will be read aloud for up to three minutes and/or 
displayed on a screen. 

▪ Emails received by publiccomment@ci.capitola.ca.us outside of the comment 
period outlined above will not be included in the record. 

 
2. Zoom Meeting (Via Computer or Phone) 

a. Please click the link below to join the meeting: 
▪ https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87800366973?pwd=eDVvK1NQTjczRis2WDFBd0

VzWDFSQT09 (link is external)  
▪ If prompted for a password, enter 019138 
▪ Use participant option to “raise hand” during the public comment period for 

the item you wish to speak on. Once unmuted, you will have up to 3 minutes 
to speak 

b. Dial in with phone: 
▪ Before the start of the item you wish to comment on, call any of the numbers 

below. If one is busy, try the next one 
▪ 1 669 900 6833 

mailto:planningcommission@ci.capitola.ca.us
mailto:publiccomment@ci.capitola.ca.us
mailto:publiccomment@ci.capitola.ca.us
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87800366973?pwd=eDVvK1NQTjczRis2WDFBd0VzWDFSQT09
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87800366973?pwd=eDVvK1NQTjczRis2WDFBd0VzWDFSQT09


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – October 7, 2021 2 
 

▪ 1 408 638 0968 
▪ 1 346 248 7799 
▪ 1 253 215 8782 
▪ 1 301 715 8592 
▪ 1 312 626 6799 
▪ 1 646 876 9923 
▪ Enter the meeting ID number: 878 0036 6973 
▪ When prompted for a Participant ID, press # 
▪ Press *9 on your phone to “raise your hand” when the Chairman calls for 

public comment. It will be your turn to speak when the Chairman unmutes 
you.  You will hear an announcement that you have been unmuted.  You may 
need to press *6 to enable talking.  The timer will then be set to 3 minutes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – October 7, 2021 3 
 
 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION – 7 PM 

All correspondences received prior to 5:00 p.m. on the Tuesday preceding an Planning 
Commission Meeting will be distributed to Committee members to review prior to the 
meeting.  Information submitted after 5 p.m. on that Tuesday may not have time to reach 
Committee members, nor be read by them prior to consideration of an item. 
 
All matters listed on the Regular Meeting of the Capitola Planning Commission Agenda shall 
be considered as Public Hearings. 

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

B. Public Comments 

Short communications from the public concerning matters not on the Agenda.  
All speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so that their 
name may be accurately recorded in the Minutes. 

C. Commission Comments 

D. Staff Comments 

3. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All matters listed under “Consent Calendar” are considered by the Planning Commission to be routine 
and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below.  There will be no separate discussion on these 
items prior to the time the Planning Commission votes on the action unless members of the public or the 
Planning Commission request specific items to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for 
separate discussion will be considered in the order listed on the Agenda. 

 
A. 1500 Wharf Road #21-0287 APN: Common Walkways 'B' through 'H' 

Master Sign Program for common area walkways of the Capitola Venetian 
Condominiums located within the MU-V (Mixed Use Village) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit 
that is appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals 
are exhausted through the City. 
Note: Request to Continue to November 4, 2021 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Venetian Court HOA 
Representative: Craig Nunes – Venetian Court HOA Filed: 07.09.21 

 

4. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Public Hearings are intended to provide an opportunity for public discussion of each item listed as a 
Public Hearing.  The following procedure is as follows:  1) Staff Presentation; 2) Public Discussion; 3) 
Planning Commission Comments; 4) Close public portion of the Hearing; 5) Planning Commission 
Discussion; and 6) Decision. 

 
 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – October 7, 2021 4 
 
A. 1425 49th Avenue #21-0075 APN: 034-064-11 

Design Permit for a new single-family residence and accessory dwelling unit 
located within the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit 
which is not appealable to the California Coastal Commission. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: DRVO Builders 
Representative: Dennis Norton, Filed: 03.30.21 

 
B. Prototype ADU Program   

Prototype Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) Program.  
Representative: Katie Herlihy, Community Development Director  
Applicant: City of Capitola 

 
C. Outdoor Dining and Design Permit Ordinance   

Update to Zoning Ordinance/Local Coastal Plan Implementation Plan  
Update to the City of Capitola Zoning Code including section 17.96.170 Outdoor Dining in 
Public Right of Way and Section 17.120.030 (Design Permits) When Required.  
The Zoning Code serves as the Implementation Plan of the City’s Local Coastal Program 
and therefore must be certified by the Coastal Commission.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 15305 and 15311  
Property: The Zoning Code update affects all properties within Commercial Zones in the 
City of Capitola.  
Representative: Katie Herlihy, Community Development Director, City of Capitola 

 
D. Presentation on Nonconforming Structures and Permissible Structural Alterations 

Discussion on non-conforming structures and permissible structural alterations. 
Representative: Katie Herlihy, Community Development Director 

 

5. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

6. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

7. ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – October 7, 2021 5 
 
APPEALS:  The following decisions of the Planning Commission can be appealed to the City Council 

within the (10) calendar days following the date of the Commission action:  Conditional Use Permit, 

Variance, and Coastal Permit.  The decision of the Planning Commission pertaining to an Architectural 

and Site Review Design Permit can be appealed to the City Council within the (10) working days following 

the date of the Commission action.  If the tenth day falls on a weekend or holiday, the appeal period is 

extended to the next business day. 
 

All appeals must be in writing, setting forth the nature of the action and the basis upon which the action is 

considered to be in error, and addressed to the City Council in care of the City Clerk.  An appeal must be 

accompanied by a five hundred dollar ($500) filing fee, unless the item involves a Coastal Permit that is 

appealable to the Coastal Commission, in which case there is no fee.  If you challenge a decision of the 

Planning Commission in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone else 

raised at the public hearing described in this agenda, or in written correspondence delivered to the City 

at, or prior to, the public hearing. 
 

Notice regarding Planning Commission meetings:  The Planning Commission meets regularly on the 

1st Thursday of each month at 7 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 Capitola Avenue, 

Capitola. 
 

Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials:  The Planning Commission Agenda and complete Agenda 

Packet are available on the Internet at the City's website:  www.cityofcapitola.org.  Need more 

information?  Contact the Community Development Department at (831) 475-7300. 
 

Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet:  Materials that are a public 

record under Government Code § 54957.5(A) and that relate to an agenda item of a regular meeting of 

the Planning Commission that are distributed to a majority of all the members of the Planning 

Commission more than 72 hours prior to that meeting shall be available for public inspection at City Hall 

located at 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, during normal business hours. 
 

Americans with Disabilities Act:  Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons with 

a disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 

1990.  Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting in 

the City Council Chambers.  Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting 

due to a disability, please contact the Community Development Department at least 24 hours in advance 

of the meeting at (831) 475-7300.  In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental 

sensitivities, attendees are requested to refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 

Televised Meetings:  Planning Commission meetings are cablecast "Live" on Charter Communications 

Cable TV Channel 8 and are recorded to be replayed on the following Monday and Friday at 1:00 p.m. on 

Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25.  Meetings can also be viewed from the City's website:  

www.cityofcapitola.org. 

http://www.cityofcapitola.org/
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/


 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: OCTOBER 7, 2021 
 
SUBJECT: 1500 Wharf Road  #21-0287  APN: Common Walkways 
'B' through 'H' 
 

Master Sign Program for common area walkways of the Capitola 
Venetian Condominiums located within the MU-V (Mixed Use Village) 
zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal 
Development Permit that is appealable to the California Coastal 
Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Note: Request to Continue to November 4, 2021 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Venetian Court HOA 
Representative: Craig Nunes – Venetian Court HOA Filed: 07.09.21 

 
BACKGROUND 
On July 9, 2021, the City received an application for a master sign program for the Captiola 
Venetian Condominiums located at 1500 Wharf Road in the Mixed-Use Village (MU-V) zoning 
district.  Due to a scheduling conflict, the HOA president requested the agenda item be 
continued to the November 4, 2021 hearing.    
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission continue application #21-0287 to the November 4, 
2021, meeting. 
 
 
 
Prepared By: Sean Sesanto 

3.A

Packet Pg. 6



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: OCTOBER 7, 2021 
 
SUBJECT: 1425 49th Avenue  #21-0075  APN: 034-064-11 
 

Design Permit for a new single-family residence and accessory 
dwelling unit located within the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning 
district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal 
Development Permit which is not appealable to the California Coastal 
Commission. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: DRVO Builders 
Representative: Dennis Norton, Filed: 03.30.21 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing to construct a new 1,391-square-foot single-family residence with an 
attached 446-square-foot accessory dwelling unit on a corner lot located 1425 49th Avenue in 
the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district.  The application complies with all 
development standards within the R-1 zone and is requesting an exception to the maximum 
driveway width pursuant to §17.76.040(B)(1).  The project was reviewed under the 2021 
certified zoning code. 
 
BACKGROUND 
On August 11, 2021, the Development and Design Review Committee (formerly Architectural 
and Site Review) reviewed the application and provided the applicant with the following 
direction:  
 
Public Works Representative, Danielle Uharriet: informed the applicant that prior to issuance of 
a building permit, the landscape plan must match the site and civil plans and the proposed 
landscaping in the public right of way will require a revocable encroachment permit. 
 
Building Official, Robin Woodman: did not request any modifications to the plans.  
 
Assistant Planner, Sean Sesanto: also informed the applicant the landscape plan must match 
the site plan.  Planner Sesanto noted the parking layout in the landscape plan does not match 
the parking on the site plan and does not comply with the parking standards. 
 

4.A

Packet Pg. 7



 
 

 

Following the Development and Design Review meeting, the applicant submitted a revised site 
plan with the proposed parking layout.  The applicant was unable to modify the landscape plans 
which show the parking in the incorrect locations. 
 
Development Standards 
The following table outlines the zoning code requirements for development in the R-1 Zoning 
District.  The new single-family residence complies with all development standards of the R-1 
zone.  
 

Development Standards 

Building Height 

R-1 Regulation Proposed 

25 ft.  23 ft. 8 in. 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

 Existing Proposed 

Lot size 3,280 sq. ft. 
 

3,280 sq. ft. 

Maximum Floor Area Ratio 56% (Max 1,837 sq. ft.) 56% (Max 1,837 sq. ft.) 

First Story Floor Area N/A 1,055 sq. ft. 

Second Story Floor Area (Primary) N/A 336 sq. ft. 

Second Story Floor Area (ADU) N/A 446 sq. ft.  

Deck/Covered Ext. Space N/A 176 sq. ft. (exempt) 

Total FAR N/A 56% (Max 1,837 sq. ft.) 

Setbacks 

Corner lot 

 R-1 regulation Proposed 

Front Yard 1st Story 15 ft. 18 ft.  

Front Yard 2nd Story  
& Garage 

20 ft. 20 ft.  

Side Yard 1st Story 10% lot 
width 

Lot width 41 ft. 
 
4 ft. 1 in. min. 

4 ft. 2 in.  

Side Yard 1st Story 
Exterior (Street Side) 

10 ft. 10 ft. 6 in.  

Side Yard 2nd Story 15% of 
width 

Lot width 41 ft. 
 
6 ft. 2 in. min. 

6 ft. 2 in.  

Side Yard 2nd Story 
Exterior (Street Side) 

10 ft. 10 ft. 

Rear Yard 1st Story Minimum interior side yard 
of adjacent lot. 4 ft. 1 in. 

15 ft.  

Rear Yard 2nd Story Minimum interior side yard 
of adjacent lot. 4 ft. 1 in. 

7 ft.  

Parking 

Residential up to 
1,500 sq. ft. ADU 
(covered parking areas 
do not count towards 

Required Proposed 

3 spaces total 
0 covered 

3 spaces total 
1 covered 

4.A

Packet Pg. 8



 
 

 

parking demand) 2 uncovered - Primary Unit 
1 uncovered - ADU 

2 uncovered 
 
*ADU parking space in side-yard 
setback area 

Underground Utilities: required with 25% increase in area Yes 

 
DISCUSSION 
The existing property at 1425 49th Avenue is on the corner of Opal Street and 49th Avenue 
within the Jewel Box neighborhood, surrounded by one- and two-story single-family residences.  
The lot consists of a small unoccupied cottage which is proposed to be demolished. The 
adjacent vacant property at 4875 Opal Street is a separate legal lot which was approved for a 
new two story, single-family residence during the September 2, 2021, Planning Commission 
meeting. 
 
The applicant is proposing to construct a new two-story, single-family residence with an 
attached accessory dwelling unit (ADU) on the second story. The front yard is technically along 
the Opal Street frontage, but the project has been designed with the main walkway and 
driveway access from 49th Avenue.  There is also an entry door on the first story on the Opal 
Street façade, but no pathway to connect the entryway to the Opal Street sidewalk.  The 
proposed residence has two second story decks, one oriented toward 49th Avenue and the 
second located on the rear of the structure proving independent access for the ADU.  The 
craftsman architecture is characterized by the mix of horizontal siding, gabled roof ends, 
traditional rafters and braces, and composition roof. 
 
Parking 
The proposed 1,391-square-foot residence is required to have two on-site parking spaces, 
neither of which must be covered.  The attached ADU is required to have one uncovered 
parking space.  The proposed parking is shown on the site plan and includes three parking 
spaces; one in the garage, one to the side of the garage in the rear yard, and one space parallel 
to 49th Avenue within the side yard.   
 
Section 17.76.040(B)(1) regulates parking in front and exterior side setback areas as follows:  
 

“R-1 Zoning District. In the R-1 zoning district, the width of a parking space in the 
required front or exterior side setback area may not exceed forty percent 
of lot width up to a maximum of twenty feet, except that all lots may have 
a parking space of up to fourteen feet in width regardless of lot width. See Figure 
17.76-1. The planning commission may allow a larger parking area within the 
required front and exterior side setback areas with a design permit if the larger 
parking area incorporates design features, such as impervious materials and 
enhanced landscaping, which minimize visual impacts to the neighborhood.” 
 
Figure 17.76-1: Parking in Setback Area in R-1 Zoning District 
 

4.A

Packet Pg. 9

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=124
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=144
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=092
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=092
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=124
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=092
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=144


 
 

 

 
 
The lot width along 49th Avenue is 80 feet wide.  Since 40 percent of the 80 feet wide lot is 32 
feet, the property is limited to the maximum twenty-foot driveway width, unless a wider driveway 
is approved by the Planning Commission through a design permit.  The applicant is seeking 
Planning Commission approval of a 41 foot wide driveway. 
 
The proposed parking area in front of the garage and in the rear yard for the ADU is designed 
with permeable pavers with a centered turf grid center strip.  The parking space in the exterior 
side yard along 49th Avenue is not easily identifiable as it is shown over a permeable paver 
walkway leading to the main entry of the house and on artificial turf.  This space would likely be 
improved if the applicant incorporated a ribbon design parking space with two parallel strips of 
permeable paving no wider than two and one-half feet each.  Unpaved areas between the strips 
could be landscaped with turf or low-growing ground cover.  The proposed driveway tapers 
towards the street with new natural landscaping and 30-inch-high wood fence fencing in front.   
Staff added condition of approval number #2 requiring the ribbon parking space design in the 
exterior side yard as suggested above.  
 
New Sidewalks 
Currently no sidewalk exists along either street frontage of the subject property.  The applicant 
is proposing to construct new sidewalks along both Opal Street and 49 th Avenue.  Staff has 
added Condition #13 that requires the applicant to construct a sidewalk along 49th Avenue, an 
ADA curb ramp at the corner of the 49th Avenue and Opal Street, and that all sidewalk, curb, 
and gutter improvements be constructed per city standard. 
 
Landscape 
The application includes the removal of one oak tree landscape and the planting of two coast 
live oak trees.  The two trees will secure the goal of fifteen percent canopy coverage for new 
residential construction projects, pursuant to CMC §12.12.190(C).   
 
CEQA 
§15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts one single family residence, or a second dwelling 
unit in a residential zone. The proposed project includes the demolition of a single-family 
residence and the construction of a new single-family residence with an attached accessory 

4.A

Packet Pg. 10



 
 

 

dwelling unit.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the 
proposed project. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission consider application #21-0075 and approve the 
application with the following Conditions and Findings for Approval. 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of the demolition of an existing cottage and the 

construction of a new 1,391 square-foot single-family residence and 446 square-foot 
attached accessory dwelling unit. The maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 3,280 square 
foot property is 56% (1,837 square feet). The total FAR of the project is 56% with a total 
of 1,837 square feet, compliant with the maximum FAR within the zone. The proposed 
project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the 
Planning Commission on October 7, 2021, except as modified through conditions 
imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. The site plan and landscape plan shall be updated to modify the parking space in the 
exterior side yard.  The parking space shall be easily identifiable as a ribbon design 
space with two parallel strips of permeable paving no wider than two and one-half feet 
each. Unpaved areas between the strips shall be landscaped with turf or low-growing 
ground cover.   
 

3. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission. All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans 
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

5. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM 
shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans. All 
construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP 
STRM.  

 
6. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department. Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.  
 

7. Prior to issuance of building permit, a landscape plan shall be submitted and approved 
by the Community Development Department. The landscape plan can be produced by 
the property owner, landscape professional, or landscape architect.  Landscape plans 
shall reflect the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location 
of species and details of any proposed (but not required) irrigation systems.  

 
8. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #21-0075 

shall be paid in full. 
 

4.A

Packet Pg. 11



 
 

 

9. Prior to issuance of building permit, the developer shall pay Affordable housing in-lieu 
fees as required to assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) 
Housing Ordinance.  
 

10. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Creek Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.  
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works. The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

12. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 
all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

13. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit plans detailing all 
improvements or modifications that impact or interface with the public right of way.  At a 
minimum, these details will include the limits of any existing or proposed curb drains, 
ADA compliant driveway approach, or any modification to the curb/gutter/sidewalk.  The 
extent of all improvements or modifications shall be limited to those areas fronting the 
property boundary and shall not impact of the frontage of adjacent parcels. 
 

14. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

15. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work. No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

16. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall complete a revocable 
encroachment agreement, in a form provided by the Public Works Department, for all 
approved privately installed improvements within the unutilized public right-of-way. 
 

17. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

18. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Department. All new or replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter 
or sidewalk shall meet current Accessibility Standards.  Improvements in the right of way 
shall include a new sidewalk along 49th Avenue and an accessible curb ramp at the 
corner of 49th Avenue and Opal Street 
 

19. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the applicant shall demonstrate 
compliance with the tree removal permit authorized by this permit for 2 trees to be 

4.A

Packet Pg. 12



 
 

 

removed from the property. Replacement trees shall be planted at a 2:1 ratio. Required 
replacement trees shall be of the same size, species and planted on the site as shown 
on the approved plans unless approved by the Community Development Director.  
  

20. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 
approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director. Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

21. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration. Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.156.080. 
 

22. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

23. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
placed out of public view on non-collection days.  
 

24. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing 
overhead utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole.  
 

25. Prior to demolition of the existing structure, a pest control company shall resolve any 
pest issues and document that all pest issues have been mitigated. Documentation shall 
be submitted to the city at time of demolition permit application.    

 
DESIGN PERMIT FINDINGS 

A. The proposed project is consistent with the general plan, local coastal program, 
and any applicable specific plan, area plan, or other design policies and 
regulations adopted by the city council. 
Community Development Staff and the Planning Commission have all reviewed the 
project. The proposed demolition of an existing cottage and the construction of a new 
single-family residence and accessory dwelling unit is consistent with the general plan 
and the local coastal program. 

 
B. The proposed project complies with all applicable provisions of the zoning code 

and municipal code. 
The proposed the proposed demolition of an existing cottage and the construction of a 
new single-family residence and accessory dwelling unit complies with all applicable 
provisions of the zoning code for the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) District. 

 
C. The proposed project has been reviewed in compliance with the California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts one single single-family residence, 
or a second dwelling unit in a residential zone.  The project involves the construction of a 

4.A

Packet Pg. 13



 
 

 

new single-family residence and accessory dwelling unit in the R-1 (Single-Family 
Residential) District.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review 
of the proposed project. 

 
D. The proposed development will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or 

welfare or materially injurious to the properties or improvements in the vicinity. 
The proposed demolition of an existing cottage and the construction of a new single-
family residence and accessory dwelling unit will not be detrimental to the public health, 
safety, or welfare or materially injurious to the properties or improvements in the vicinity.  
The project maintains the original residential use which is compatible with the Single-
Family Residential (R-1) zoning district. 

 
E. The proposed project complies with all applicable design review criteria in 

Section 17.120.070 (Design review criteria). 
The proposed demolition of an existing cottage and the construction of a new single-
family residence and accessory dwelling unit complies with the applicable design review 
criteria in Section 17.120.070 of the zoning code. 

 
F. For projects in residential neighborhoods, the proposed project maintains the 

character, scale, and development pattern of the neighborhood. 
Community Development Staff and the Planning Commission have all reviewed the 
application for the demolition of an existing cottage and the construction of a new single-
family residence and accessory dwelling unit.  The design of the two-story home and 
ADU with horizontal siding, gabled roof ends, traditional rafters and braces, and 
composition shingle roof, will fit in nicely with the existing neighborhood. 

 
ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT FINDINGS 

A. The exterior design of the accessory dwelling unit is compatible with the primary 
dwelling on the parcel through architectural use of building forms, height, 
construction materials, colors, landscaping, and other methods that conform to 
acceptable construction practices. 
The proposed attached ADU utilizes the same materials, design, height, and roof pitch 
as the proposed primary dwelling.  The exterior design is compatible with the primary 
dwelling on the parcel. 

 
B. The exterior design is in harmony with, and maintains the scale of, the 

neighborhood. 
The proposed attached ADU has a blended form with the primary dwelling.  A two-story 
building form is common throughout the Jewel Box neighborhood.  Therefore, the 
exterior design is in harmony with, and maintains the scale of the Jewel Box 
neighborhood. 

 
C. The accessory dwelling unit will not create excessive noise, traffic, or parking 

congestion. 
The proposed project is situated on a full-sized residential lot and includes one parking 
space for the ADU.  The ADU will not create excessive noise, traffic, or parking 
congestion. 

 
D. The accessory dwelling unit has or will have access to adequate water and sewer 

service as determined by the applicable service provider. 
The proposed ADU is located on a developed lot in a residential neighborhood with 
adequate water and sewer service.   

4.A

Packet Pg. 14



 
 

 

 
E. Adequate open space and landscaping have been provided that are usable for 

both the accessory dwelling unit and the primary residence. Open space and 
landscaping provide for privacy and screening of adjacent properties. 
The lot provides a new configuration that provides adequate landscaping and open 
space for both dwelling units.  Access to the ADU is from the exterior side and the siting 
of the second-story deck is setback more than development standards require.  

 
F. The location and design of the accessory dwelling unit maintain a compatible 

relationship to adjacent properties and do not significantly impact the privacy, 
light, air, solar access, or parking of adjacent properties. 
The proposed ADU is located along the street side yard.  The siting of structure and 
parking leaves adequate light, air, solar access, and parking of adjacent properties.  
Window opening placements have taken adjacent properties into consideration.  

 
G. The accessory dwelling unit generally limits the major access stairs, decks, entry 

doors, and major windows to the walls facing the primary residence, or to the 
alley if applicable. Windows that impact the privacy of the neighboring side or rear 
yard have been minimized. The design of the accessory dwelling unit 
complements the design of the primary residence and does not visually dominate 
it or the surrounding properties. 
The external staircase to the proposed second-story ADU faces the interior of the lot 
with side entry.  The design of the ADU, with siding materials and massing identical to 
the attached primary residence, does not visually dominate it or the surrounding 
properties. 

 
H. The site plan is consistent with physical development policies of the general plan, 

any area plan or specific plan, or other city policy for physical development. If 
located in the coastal zone, the site plan is consistent with policies of the local 
coastal plan. If located in the coastal zone and subject to a coastal development 
permit, the proposed development will not have adverse impacts on coastal 
resources. 
The proposed attached ADU complies with the development standards in CMC 
§17.74.080, is consistent with the physical development policies of the general plan and 
zoning code and will not have adverse impacts on coastal resources. 

 
I. The project would not impair public views along the ocean and of scenic coastal 

areas. Where appropriate and feasible, the site plan restores and enhances the 
visual quality of visually degraded areas. 
The project is located on private property and will not impact public views or view areas
 . 

J. The project deviation (if applicable) is necessary due to special circumstances 
applicable to subject property, including size, shape, topography, location, 
existing structures, or surroundings, and the strict application of this chapter 
would deprive subject property of privileges enjoyed by other properties in the 
vicinity and under identical zoning classification. 

 Not applicable. The project does not include deviations. 

 
COASTAL FINDINGS 

A. The project is consistent with the LCP land use plan, and the LCP implementation 
program. 

4.A

Packet Pg. 15



 
 

 

The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal Plan (LCP) 
land use plan and the LCP implementation program. 
 

B. The project maintains or enhances public views. 
The proposed project is located on private property at 1425 49th Avenue.  The project 
will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views. 
 

C. The project maintains or enhances vegetation, natural habitats and natural 
resources. 
The proposed project is located at 1425 49th Avenue.  The project is not located in an 
area with coastal access.  The project will maintain or enhance vegetation consistent 
with the allowed use and will not have an effect on natural habitats or natural resources. 
 

D. The project maintains or enhances low-cost public recreational access, including 
to the beach and ocean. 
The project involves a new single-family residence and accessory dwelling unit and will 
not negatively impact low-cost public recreational access.   
 

E. The project maintains or enhances opportunities for visitors. 
The project involves a new single-family residence and accessory dwelling unit and will 
not negatively impact visitor serving opportunities. 
 

F. The project maintains or enhances coastal resources. 
The project involves a new single-family residence and accessory dwelling unit and will 
not negatively impact coastal resources. 
 

G. The project, including its design, location, size, and operating characteristics, is 
consistent with all applicable design plans and/or area plans incorporated into the 
LCP. 
The proposed residential project complies with all applicable design criteria, design 
guidelines, area plans, and development standards.  The operating characteristics are 
consistent with the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zone.  
 

H. The project is consistent with the LCP goal of encouraging appropriate coastal 
development and land uses, including coastal priority development and land uses 
(i.e., visitor serving development and public access and recreation). 
The project involves a new single-family residence and accessory dwelling unit on a 
residential lot of record.  The project is consistent with the LCP goals for appropriate 
coastal development and land uses.  The use is an allowed use consistent with the R-1 
zoning district.   

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 1425 49th Avenue - Plan Set 
2. 1425 49th Avenue - Landscape & Materials Info 
3. Design Permit Design Review Criteria 

 
Prepared By: Sean Sesanto 

4.A

Packet Pg. 16



4.A.1

Packet Pg. 17

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



4.A.1

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



4.A.1

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



4.A.1

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



4.A.1

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



4.A.1

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



4.A.1

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



N
N

R 
EN

GI
N

EE
RI

N
G 

SE
RV

IC
ES

 C
O

.

NOVEMBER 16, 2020

1. UTILITIES FOUND ARE BASED
UPON SURFACE EVIDENT
FINDINGS.  RECORDS OF
UTILITIES WERE NOT UTILIZED
FOR THIS SURVEY

2. TREES SHOWN ARE THOSE OF
SIZE SIGNIFICANCE. THE SITE
CONTAINS OTHER TREES UNDER
6" AND ARE NOT SHOWN FOR MAP
CLARITY. TREE CLASSIFICATIONS
ARE TO THE BEST KNOWLEDGE
OF THE SURVEYOR. AN ARBORIST
MUST SPECIFY ACTUAL TREE
TYPE.

3. MAIN STRUCTURE AND
APPURTENANT STRUCTURES ARE
BASED  UPON THE BEST EFFORTS
OF THE SURVEY CREW. SOME
ELEMENTS MAY BE MISSING AND
CHECKS BY THE ARCHITECTS
OFFICE WILL BE NECESSARY
BEFORE DESIGN WORK.

SANITARY SEWER
CLEANOUT

SANITARY SEWER
MANHOLE
FENCE LINE

WATER METER

WATER VALVE

FIRE HYDRANT

XX" TREE

GUY ANCHOR

AS NOTED

JOINT POLE

TREE, SIZE AND TYPE

W

G

CONCRETE

WATER LINE

GM GAS METER

GAS LINE

FL              FLOWLINE
TC             TOP OF CURB
EP             EDGE OF PAVEMENT
CONC       CONCRETE
LIP            LIP OF GUTTER
GS            GROUND SHOT
AD            AREA DRAIN
FF             FINISH FLOOR
BSL           BUILDING SETBACK LINE

SURVEY CONTROL POINT
SET MAG NAIL
ELEVATION=79.37'

Darryl Lydell Bond

FLOOD ZONE X
FEMA MAP PANEL 06087C0352F
EFFECTIVE DATE 9/29/2017

THE BEARING N 01°01'00" E OF THE
WETSERLEY LINE OF FORTY-NINTH AVENUE
AS SHOWN ON THAT CERTAIN MAP OF OPAL
SUBDIVISION NO.1 OF FAIRVIEW TRACT
FILED FOR RECORD JULY 9, 1923 IN VOL. 18
OF MAPS AT PAGE 40, WAS TAKEN AS THE
BASIS OF BEARINGS FOR THIS MAP.

THIS MAP CORRECTLY REPRESENTS A SURVEY MADE BY
ME OR UNDER MY DIRECTION IN CONFORMANCE WITH
THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE PROFESSIONAL LAND
SURVEYORS' ACT.

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



VICINITY MAP

FO
R

T
Y

 N
IN

T
H

 A
V

E

FO
R

T
Y

 S
E

V
E

N
T

H
 A

V
E

FO
R

T
Y

 F
IT

H
 A

V
E

TOPAZ AVE

OPAL AVE

JWEL AVE

GARNET AVE

EMERALD AVE

BYREVISIONS

N.T.S.
9-4-2021

NR

SCALE:

DATE:

DRAWN BY:
SHEET NO:

JOB NO:

7 SHEETSOF1

NOTICE TO CONTRACTORS

OWNER:

STEPHEN DORCICH
DRVO BUILDERS INC.
408-858-2240

DRAINAGE FLOW

SANITARY SEWER
CLEANOUT

SANITARY SEWER
MANHOLE
FENCE LINE

WATER METER

WATER VALVE

FIRE HYDRANT

XX" TREE

GUY ANCHOR

AS NOTED

JOINT POLE

TREE, SIZE AND TYPE

W

G

CONCRETE

WATER LINE

GM
GAS METER

GAS LINE

REMOVE TREE

STORM DRAIN
MANHOLE

COVER SHEET C-1

C-4

CROSS SECTIONS/ MISC. DETAILS 

GRADING & DRAINAGE PLAN 

C-3

EROSION CONTROL PLAN

C-2

XX" TREE

W

G

GM

406

406

0

IMPERVIOUS COVERAGE (S.F.)

BUILDINGS

DRIVEWAY/WALKS

TOTAL

EXISTING NEW

2,315

0

2,315

REDWOOD GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING,  I N C.

GEOTECHNICAL INVESTIGATION REPORT -
PREPARED BY:

PROJECT NO. 2537SCR
DATED 1-30-2021
TEL: (408) 227-5168

EARTHWORK QUANTITY

NOTE:

ESTABLISH HIS OWN QUANTITIES.

CAPITOLA AND ARE NOT TO BE USED FOR 

PAYMENT TO THE CONTRACTOR . CONTRACTOR SHALL

THE QUANTITIES ARE SHOWN FOR THE PURPOSE OF

GRADING PERMIT APPROVAL FROM THE CITY OF    FILL REQUIRED

IMPORT/EXPORT 90± CY

   APPROXIMATE CUT REQUIRED 
130± CY

40± CY

TITLE SHEET C-5

OFF-SITE IMPROVEMENT  PLAN

C-7

C-6

CONSTRUCTION DETAILS

ON-SITE IMPROVEMENT

OFF-SITE IMPROVEMENT

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



1

5

6

43

10

3

10

5

4

6

1

2

2

7

8

9

9

11

1212

44 S1
S2

S3

S4

13

14

1

3

15

2

DATEREVISIONS

1" =10'
9-4-2021

NR

SCALE:

DATE:

DRAWN BY:
SHEET NO:

JOB NO:

GENERAL NOTE

GRADING AND DRAINAGE CONSTRUCTION  NOTES:

AREA OF OVER-EXCAVATION- SEE SOIL REPORT
7 SHEETSOF2

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



AS SHOWN
9-4-2021

NR

SCALE:

DATE:

DRAWN BY:
SHEET NO:

JOB NO:

DATEREVISIONS

PERMEABLE PAVERS
TYPICAL DETAIL
NOTE:
DRIVEWAY SHALL BE ABLE TO SUPPORT WEIGHT OF EMERGENCY TRUCKS, UP TO 20 TONS. PROJECT
SOILS ENGINEER TO INSPECT THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE DRIVEWAY.

MAINTENANCE  NOTES

EARTH SWALE DETAIL

UTILITY  DETAIL

CONCRETE WALKWAY-TYPICAL SECTION

 ROOF DOWNSPOUT/SPLASH BLOCK

7 SHEETSOF3

A

A

INFILTRATION DEVICE - DETAIL

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



DATEREVISIONS

1" =10'
3-11-2021

NR

SCALE:

DATE:

DRAWN BY:
SHEET NO:

JOB NO:

LEGEND

BURLAP SACK DRAIN INLET (D.I.)
SEDIMENT FILTER DETAIL

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL NOTES:

TEMPORARY CONCRETE WASHOUT FACILITY ( ABOVE GRADE)

TEMPORARY COVER ON STOCK PILE

STRAW WATTLES

SEQUENCE OF CONSTRUCTION

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE NOTES:  

STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE
7 SHEETSOF4

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



VICINITY MAP

FO
R

T
Y

 N
IN

T
H

 A
V

E

FO
R

T
Y

 S
E

V
E

N
T

H
 A

V
E

FO
R

T
Y

 F
IT

H
 A

V
E

TOPAZ ST.

OPAL ST.

JEWEL ST.

GARNET ST.

EMERALD ST.

BYREVISIONS

N.T.S.
3-11-2021

NR

SCALE:

DATE:

DRAWN BY:
SHEET NO:

JOB NO:

7 SHEETSOF

OFF-SITE IMPROVEMENT PLANS
 FOR RESIDENTIAL USE

503 FORTY NINTH AVENUE
& 4875 OPAL STREET, CAPITOLA, CA.

5

NOTICE TO CONTRACTORS

APN: 034-064-12
APN: 034-064-11

DRAINAGE FLOW

SANITARY SEWER
CLEANOUT

SANITARY SEWER
MANHOLE
FENCE LINE

WATER METER

WATER VALVE

FIRE HYDRANT

XX" TREE

GUY ANCHOR

AS NOTED

JOINT POLE

TREE, SIZE AND TYPE

W

G

CONCRETE

WATER LINE

GM
GAS METER

GAS LINE

REMOVE TREE

STORM DRAIN
MANHOLE

XX" TREE

W

G

GM

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



1

2

3

4

3

5

5

CONSTRUCTION  NOTES:

1
2

3

4

GENERAL NOTES:

RAMP DETAIL

BYREVISIONS

3-11-2021

NR

SCALE:

DATE:

DRAWN BY:
SHEET NO:

JOB NO:

7 SHEETSOF6

5

1" =10'

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



BYREVISIONS

N.T.S.
9-4-2021

NR

SCALE:

DATE:

DRAWN BY:
SHEET NO:

JOB NO:

7 SHEETSOF7

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

14
25

 4
9t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



4.A.2

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

42
5 

49
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
- 

L
an

d
sc

ap
e 

&
 M

at
er

ia
ls

 In
fo

  (
14

25
 4

9t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)



Design Permit Design Review Criteria 

 

17.120.070 Design review criteria. When considering design permit applications, the city shall 

evaluate applications to ensure that they satisfy the following criteria, comply with 

the development standards of the zoning district, conform to policies of the general plan, the local 

coastal program, and any applicable specific plan, and are consistent with any other policies or 

guidelines the city council may adopt for this purpose. To obtain design permit approval, projects 

must satisfy these criteria to the extent they apply. 

 
A. Community Character. The overall project design including site plan, height, massing, 

architectural style, materials, and landscaping contribute to Capitola’s unique coastal village 
character and distinctive sense of place. 

 
B. Neighborhood Compatibility. The project is designed to respect and 

complement adjacent properties. The project height, massing, and intensity is compatible with 
the scale of nearby buildings. The project design incorporates measures to minimize traffic, 
parking, noise, and odor impacts on nearby residential properties. 

 
C. Historic Character. Renovations and additions respect and preserve existing 

historic structure. New structures and additions to non-historic structures reflect and 
complement the historic character of nearby properties and the community at large. 

 
D. Sustainability. The project supports natural resource protection and environmental 

sustainability through features such as on-site renewable energy generation, passive solar 
design, enhanced energy efficiency, water conservation measures, and other 
green building techniques. 

 
E. Pedestrian Environment. The primary entrances are oriented towards and visible from 

the street to support an active public realm and an inviting pedestrian environment. 
 
F. Privacy. The orientation and location of buildings, entrances, windows, doors, decks, and 

other building features minimizes privacy impacts on adjacent properties and provides 
adequate privacy for project occupants. 

 
G. Safety. The project promotes public safety and minimizes opportunities for crime through 

design features such as property access controls (e.g., placement of entrances, fences), 
increased visibility and features that promote a sense of ownership of outdoor space. 

 
H. Massing and Scale. The massing and scale of buildings complement and respect 

neighboring structures and correspond to the scale of the human form. Large volumes are 
divided into small components through varying wall planes, heights, 
and setbacks. Building placement and massing avoids impacts to public views and solar 
access. 

 
I. Architectural Style. Buildings feature an architectural style that is compatible with the 

surrounding built and natural environment, is an authentic implementation of appropriate 
established architectural styles, and reflects Capitola’s unique coastal village character. 

 
J. Articulation and Visual Interest. Building facades are well articulated to add visual interest, 

distinctiveness, and human scale. Building elements such as roofs, doors, windows, and 

4.A.3

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
 D

es
ig

n
 R

ev
ie

w
 C

ri
te

ri
a 

 (
14

25
 4

9t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)



porches are part of an integrated design and relate to the human scale. Architectural details 
such as trim, eaves, window boxes, and brackets contribute to the visual interest of 
the building. 

 
K. Materials. Building facades include a mix of natural, high quality, and durable materials that 

are appropriate to the architectural style, enhance building articulation, and are compatible 
with surrounding development. 

 
L. Parking and Access. Parking areas are located and designed to minimize visual impacts and 

maintain Capitola’s distinctive neighborhoods and pedestrian-friendly environment. Safe and 
convenient connections are provided for pedestrians and bicyclists. 

 
M. Landscaping. Landscaping is an integral part of the overall project design, is appropriate to 

the site and structures, and enhances the surrounding area. 
 
N. Drainage. The site plan is designed to maximize efficiency of on-site drainage with runoff 

directed towards permeable surface areas and engineered retention. 
 
O. Open Space and Public Places. Single-family dwellings feature inviting front yards that 

enhance Capitola’s distinctive neighborhoods. Multifamily residential projects include public 
and private open space that is attractive, accessible, and functional. 
Nonresidential development provides semi-public outdoor spaces, such as plazas and 
courtyards, which help support pedestrian activity within an active and engaging public realm. 

 
P. Signs. The number, location, size, and design of signs complement the project design and 

are compatible with the surrounding context. 
 
Q. Lighting. Exterior lighting is an integral part of the project design with light fixtures designed, 

located, and positioned to minimize illumination of the sky and adjacent properties. 
 
R. Accessory Structures. The design of detached garages, sheds, fences, walls, and 

other accessory structures relates to the primary structure and is compatible 
with adjacent properties. 

 
S. Mechanical Equipment, Trash Receptacles, and Utilities. Mechanical equipment, trash 

receptacles, and utilities are contained within architectural enclosures or fencing, sited in 
unobtrusive locations, and/or screened by landscaping. 

4.A.3

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
 D

es
ig

n
 R

ev
ie

w
 C

ri
te

ri
a 

 (
14

25
 4

9t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: OCTOBER 7, 2021 
 
SUBJECT: Prototype ADU Program     
 
Prototype Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) Program.  
Representative: Katie Herlihy, Community Development Director  
Applicant: City of Capitola 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
The City of Capitola contracted Workbench and Metta Urban Design to create an Accessory 
Dwelling Unit (ADU) program including guidance documents and four prototype designs.    
 
BACKGROUND 
On November 22, 2019, the City Council adopted a resolution authorizing Staff to apply for a 
Senate Bill 2 (SB2) planning grant to develop objective design standards so that the City may 
more effectively process applications for projects subject to Senate Bill 35 (SB35) and develop 
guidance documents and pre-approved architectural plans for ADUs. 
 
On March 11, 2020, the City of Capitola was awarded $160,000 in SB2 grant funding. 
 
On March 25, 2020, City Council adopted an update to the City’s ADU ordinance to reflect the 
State legislation which took effect on January 1, 2020.  
 
On September 11, 2020, the City’s new ADU ordinance was certified by the Coastal 
Commission. 
 
On September 24, 2020, the City Council authorized a sole source contract with Ben 
Noble Urban and Regional Planning to develop objective standards for Capitola’s zoning code 
with a portion of the SB2 Grant funding. 
 
On May 13, 2021, the City Council authorized the City Manager to enter a contract with 
Workbench in the amount of $107,000 for the SB2 grant developing public outreach tools 
regarding ADUs and creating four ADU prototype building plans. 
 
On July 15, 2021, the Planning Commission received an overview of the SB2 ADU grant 
program.  The Commission provided direction to staff related to the size and design of the 
prototype ADUs.  

 
DISCUSSION 

4.B

Packet Pg. 35



 
 

 

The SB2 grant funds were made available to jurisdictions to accelerate housing production.  
For the City of Capitola, this will be achieved by assisting property owners with ADU 
development. There are two main deliverables for Capitola’s SB2 ADU program.  The first is to 
create guidance documents to inform the public and design professionals of Capitola’s ADU 
standards and the permitting process.  The second deliverable is producing architectural and 
building plans for four ADU prototypes that would fit on a typical Capitola lot and will be 
available at no cost to Capitola residents.  The prototypes will be developed to the point where 
they are building code compliant and will only require the applicant to have a survey showing 
how the ADU fits within their property.   
 
Guidance Documents 
Metta Urban Design is currently drafting the ADU guidance documents.  Staff will present the 
documents to the Planning Commission at a future meeting. The deliverables related to the 
guidance documents include: a detailed, step-by-step ADU handbook; a quick-reference ADU 
brochure; the ADU application; an ADU checklist for plan submittal; a frequently asked 
questions (FAQ) list; public facing imagery (graphics); and an update to the text of the ADU 
page on the City website with links to the previously listed items.  These deliverables will define 
the types of ADUs, provide illustrations showing what these building forms could look like on a 
typical Capitola lot, explain the new state regulations for ADUs by using illustrations and 
graphics to distill technical ordinances into more easily understood information, create content 
that describes the benefits of ADUs and direct users to external resources to excite and inspire 
property owners about adding an ADU to their property, present and explain the prototypical 
plans to help property owners identify the best option for their property, and guide property 
owners through the design and permitting process.    
 
ADU Prototypes 
On July 15, 2021, the Planning Commission received information on the prototype ADU 
program and the findings from the public outreach survey.  The Commission provided feedback 
on the program regarding design and unit size.  They suggested that Workbench design the 
ADUs to incorporate the public’s preferred architectural styles of craftsman, farmhouse, and 
beach cottage vernacular as identified in the survey.  Also, the Commissioners supported 
having a range of sizes but keeping the largest ADU at or below 640 square feet to keep 
construction costs low.  The Soquel Creek Water District water service charge for a new ADU 
up to 640 square feet is $12,010, which jumps 78 percent to $21,400 for an ADU above 640 
square feet.   
 
The Workbench team has worked with staff to develop four detached ADU plans for 
homeowners with several architectural styles.  The plans have been designed to fit into a 
typical property in Capitola and cover a range of sizes, from 250 square feet up to 557 square 
feet. Workbench put together a packet which includes background information, unit floor plans, 
and exterior designs, which is in included as Attachment 1.       
 
Staff is requesting that the Commission review the draft plans and provide feedback on floor 
plans and layout.  Ultimately, Workbench will incorporate requested design changes and the 
final plans will be brought back to the Planning Commission for review.   Following support of 
the design by Planning Commission, the building plans for the approved designs will be 
created.  The final project deliverables are tentatively scheduled for approval in March 2022.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission review the draft plans and provide feedback on 
floor plans and layout.   
 

4.B

Packet Pg. 36



 
 

 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Capitola Prototype ADUs First Draft 
 
Prepared By: Katie Herlihy 
  Community Development Director 

4.B

Packet Pg. 37



PLANNING COMMISSION MEE TING
OC TOBER 7 ,  2021

City of Capitola
ADU PROGRAM

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



1 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

OVERVIE W

UNIT PLANS2

EX TERIOR DESIGN3

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



BACKGROUND INFO
1

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
B

A
C

K
G

R
O

U
N

D
 I

N
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N CITY OF CAPITOLA MAP BUILDABLE LOT SIZES

Resident ia l  Neighborhoods Based on speci f ic  Capitola  Neighborhoods

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
B

A
C

K
G

R
O

U
N

D
 I

N
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N BUILDABLE LOT SIZES

Addit ional  Research

• Survey of City Expectations
 Unit Size
 Unit Style
 Design Priorities
• Reviewed Current ADU’s submitted 

to city
• Conducted Internal Design 

Charrette
 Precedent Research
 Unit Design Ideas
 How to design for Capitola

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
B

A
C

K
G

R
O

U
N

D
 I

N
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N CHARACTER OF CAPITOLA

Precedents  f rom Local  Contex t

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



UNIT PLANS
2

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
U

N
IT

 P
LA

N
S

UNIT TYPE MATRIX
Types and S izes

Studio

O ne B edro om

Two B edro om

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
U

N
IT

 P
LA

N
S

STUDIO - SMALL
25’-0”L  x  10’ -0” W x  15’ -8  1/2” T
250 GSF

• Kitchenette
• Full Bathroom
• Built-in Storage
• Lofted Storage over Bathroom
• Vaulted Ceiling
• Fits in most “Buildable Lots” Outlined 

per Neighborhood

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
U

N
IT

 P
LA

N
S

STUDIO - MEDIUM
25’-0”L  x  12’ -0” W x  15’ -8  1/2” T
300 GSF

• Kitchenette
• Full Bathroom
• Built-in Storage
• Lofted Storage over Bathroom
• Washer/Dryer
• Optional Mechanical/Storage
• Vaulted Ceiling

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
U

N
IT

 P
LA

N
S

STUDIO - LARGE
32’-0”L  x  12’ -0” W x  15’ -8  1/2” T
384 GSF

• Kitchenette
• Full Bathroom
• Living Space
• Built-in Storage
• Lofted Storage over Bathroom
• Washer/Dryer
• Optional Mechanical/Storage
• Vaulted Ceiling

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
U

N
IT

 P
LA

N
S

ONE BEDROOM
32’-0”L  x  17’ -0” W x  15’ -8  1/2” T
450 GSF

• Full Kitchen
• Full Bathroom
• Living Space
• Optional Lofted Storage over 

Bathroom
• Washer/Dryer
• Separate Bedroom w/storage
• Vaulted Ceiling

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 49

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
U

N
IT

 P
LA

N
S

TWO BEDROOM
32’-0”L  x  25’ -0” W x  15’ -8  1/2” T
557 GSF

• Full Kitchen
• Full Bathroom
• Living Space
• Optional Lofted Storage over 

Bathroom
• Washer/Dryer
• Separate Bedroom w/storage
• Flexible Living space with optional 

built separation
• Vaulted Ceiling

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
U

N
IT

 P
LA

N
S

UNIT PLANS

Studio  -  Smal l
250 GSF

Studio  -  Medium
300 GSF

Studio  -  Large
384 GSF

O ne B edro om
450 GSF

Two B edro om
557 GSF

Summar y

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 51

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



EXTERIOR DESIGN
3

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
B

A
C

K
G

R
O

U
N

D
 I

N
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N SURVEY RESULTS

Aesthet ics  and Architec tural  St y les

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 53

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
EX

TE
R

IO
R

 D
ES

IG
N UNIT STYLE MATRIX

St yles  and Total  Opt ions

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
EX

TE
R

IO
R

 D
ES

IG
N CRAFTSMAN

One Bedroom in  Craf tsman St y le

2

2

1

1

3 3

Horizontal  Fib er 
Cement Siding

Fib er  Cement 
Shingles

Comp osit ion 
Shingle Ro ofing

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
EX

TE
R

IO
R

 D
ES

IG
N FARMHOUSE

One Bedroom in  Farmhouse St y le

1

2

1

2

Fib er  Cement 
B oard&B atten

Comp osit ion 
Shingle Ro ofing

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



1

2

Wo o d Lo ok 
Ver tic al  Siding

Comp osit ion 
Shingle Ro ofing

Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
EX

TE
R

IO
R

 D
ES

IG
N BEACH COTTAGE

One Bedroom in  Beach Cottage St y le

1

2

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



Ca
pi

to
la

 A
D

U
 P

ro
gr

am
EX

TE
R

IO
R

 D
ES

IG
N EXTERIOR DESIGN

Unit  St y le  Summar y

Craf tsman Farmhouse B each Cottage

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



PLANNING COMMISSION MEE TING
OC TOBER 7 ,  2021

Thank You
City of Capitola ADU PROGRAM

4.B.1

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 P
ro

to
ty

p
e 

A
D

U
s 

F
ir

st
 D

ra
ft

  (
P

ro
to

ty
p

e 
A

D
U

 P
ro

g
ra

m
)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: OCTOBER 7, 2021 
 
SUBJECT: Outdoor Dining and Design Permit Ordinance     
 
Update to Zoning Ordinance/Local Coastal Plan Implementation Plan  
Update to the City of Capitola Zoning Code including section 17.96.170 Outdoor Dining in Public 
Right of Way and Section 17.120.030 (Design Permits) When Required.  
The Zoning Code serves as the Implementation Plan of the City’s Local Coastal Program and 
therefore must be certified by the Coastal Commission.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 15305 and 15311  
Property: The Zoning Code update affects all properties within Commercial Zones in the City of 
Capitola.  
Representative: Katie Herlihy, Community Development Director, City of Capitola 
 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL: The City is considering an update to the Zoning Code to permit 
Outdoor Dining within commercial zoning districts in the City of Capitola.  The proposed outdoor 
dining program would allow sidewalk dining and street dining decks located in the public right-
of-way. 
 
BACKGROUND: In response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the ensuing social distancing 
orders, the City issued temporary permits to local restaurants to provide outdoor dining. On April 
22, 2021, City Council directed staff to develop a program for permanent outdoor dining and to 
bring the program back to Council for review and possible adoption.  
 
DISCUSSION: On June 24, 2021 and July 22, 2021, the Council provided direction on key 
program elements, as outlined in the following table:   
 

  City Council Direction on Key Program Elements 

Overall Cap • Limit number of on street parking spaces allocated to the program to 
25 (~50% of existing) 

• Limit businesses to parking spaces fronting their businesses 

Allocation pf 
Parking 
Spaces 

• Lottery System for 25 parking spaces.  The details of a lottery 

system would be drafted into a future policy, but at a minimum would 

include the following steps:   

Step 1. Open application period for 45 days, with a required $500 

deposit per space (credited towards maintenance deposit). 

4.C

Packet Pg. 60



 
 

 

Step 2. If the total requested parking spaces are less than 25, award 

the spaces to the applicants.  

Step 3. If the total requests exceed 25, assign one or two spaces to 
each applicant. Hold a lottery for the remainder of the spaces for 
those requesting additional spaces. 

Parklet 
Design 

• Allocate up to $10,000 in City funds to create a prototype design that 
can be administratively approved  

• Require PC approval for custom designs 

Fees • Set City permit fees at zero 
• Provide no construction assistance to businesses 
• Charge rent space of $3,400/parking space per year with annual CPI 

adjustment 

Lease Term • 3 years 

Streets • Allow outdoor dining on all streets in Village and on the sidewalk on 
Monterey Avenue and the Wharf, where sidewalk widths allow.   

• Exclude Lawn Way 

Maintenance • Subject to a lease agreement and deposit with City.  

• Provisions requiring the outdoor dining decks be maintained and 
kept clean.  

• Unmaintained dining decks would first receive courtesy noticing with 
elevate enforcement, including fines and removal.  Cost of removal 
will be covered with the deposit. 

Safety Engineered safety measures will be incorporated into the prototype designs 

and be a requirement of any custom design developed. 

 

Draft Ordinance and Policy 

The outdoor dining ordinance was drafted in conjunction with an administrative policy.  The 

administrative policy provides direction on how the City will lease right-of-way for outdoor dining, 

including details for allocation of spaces, fees, and lease terms.  The ordinance specifies the 

permit review process, operating and development standards, required findings for approval, 

and enforcement.   

 

Permit Review Process 

As drafted, an approved prototype street dining deck would be reviewed by staff administratively 

and a custom street dining deck would require approval of a design permit by the Planning 

Commission. The City Council directed staff to contract an architect to create a prototype street 

dining deck which complies with all standards within of the ordinance.  Once the prototype 

design is created, the City would apply for a blanket Coastal Development Permit (CDP) 

application for the prototype street dining deck reviewed by the Planning Commission.  Upon 

approval, the blanket CDP would be applicable to any restaurant utilizing the prototype design.  

The Coastal Commission staff allows a blanket CDP to act as an overarching permit for a 

design which can be applied to multiple properties within the coastal zone. Business owners 

also have the opportunity to create a custom street dining deck design which under the new 

ordinance will require a design permit subject to Planning Commission review for compliance 

with all the standards outlined in the draft ordinance.   

4.C

Packet Pg. 61



 
 

 

 

Operation and Development Standards 

The operation and development standards include regulations related to street dining decks and 

sidewalk dining.  The development standards include minimum sidewalk widths, limits the 

location to the eating establishment frontage, references to sign regulations, and requirements 

for bicycle parking.  The operational standards limit the program to the eating establishments, 

prohibit amplified music, establish maximum hours of operation, and identify requirements for 

trash removal and maintenance.     

 

Good Standing and Enforcement 

Through the implementation of the free temporary outdoor dining program in response to Covid-

19, it was evident that not all restaurants maintain outdoor dining to the same standard.  There 

were ongoing issues with trash, upkeep of plants, and general maintenance of the outdoor 

space and furniture.  Since the permanent program will require a substantial financial 

investment by individual businesses, staff is optimistic that the businesses opting into the 

program will have a vested interest in maintaining their outdoor dining.  However, to prevent 

future upkeep and maintenance issues, the ordinance includes a requirement that the business 

is in good standing with the city with no abatement, violation, or code enforcement issues 

related to an ABC license, entertainment permit, or use permit in the past two years.  There is 

also a section on enforcement which includes inspections, enforcement remedies, and 

revocation of permits.        

 

Coastal Commission Review and Consistency with the Local Coastal Program (LCP)  

The Coastal Commission must certify the outdoor dining ordinance prior to it taking effect in the 

Coastal Zone.  In June, staff began working with Coastal Commission staff to get early feedback 

on a future program.  The Coastal Commission staff expressed concerns with outdoor dining 

related to the Coastal Act’s goal of maximizing public access and public recreation.  In their 

opinion, the outdoor dining essentially converts public space which would otherwise be used to 

access the coast, to private space.  

 

To receive Coastal Commission certification, mitigation for public access concerns raised by 

Coastal staff should be incorporated into the outdoor dining program. Coastal staff suggested 

the following measures to help minimize and mitigate the impacts to public access/recreation to 

the maximum extent feasible:  

1. Reduce the overall amount of displaced parking spaces from what was originally 

permitted under the COVID-19 temporary use permit program. 

2. Initiate the program with temporary (i.e., 1-5 year) authorization that requires a Coastal 

Development Permit (CDP) extension, thereby building in the opportunity to re-evaluate 

the program once it has been operating, making any changes desired or necessary, and 

ensuring LCP/Coastal Act consistency.  

a. Issue one CDP for the entire outdoor dining program as opposed to individual 

CDPs for each business. 

3. Use funds from outdoor dining to reinvest in coastal access including the shuttle 

program, coastal park beautification, coastal access signage, new bike racks, sidewalk 

improvements, maintenance of existing parking, etc.  

 

The draft ordinance incorporates elements that address all Coastal Commission staff 

suggestions to mitigate impacts to public access and recreation and ensure the ordinance is 

consistent with the City’s LCP.  The number of outdoor dining spaces is capped at 25, which is 

4.C

Packet Pg. 62



 
 

 

less than half the number of spaces allowed under the COVID-19 temporary use permit 

program. As directed by City Council, the maximum lease term is three years. This will allow 

enough time to see how the program is operating and adjust as necessary.  The ordinance 

includes a requirement that no less than 50 percent of revenues received from outdoor dining 

be utilized for coastal access programs, maintenance, and improvements.     The City currently 

allocates more than $800,000 per year for coastal access-related programs. If all 25 spaces are 

ultimately leased, the parklet program would generate $85,000 per year, and could be used to 

fund roughly 11% of the City’s annual coastal access-related expenditures. 

 

CEQA  
The project qualifies for the Categorical Exemption found at CEQA Guidelines section 15305 
and 15311.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission review the draft ordinance and recommend 
approval to the City Council.   
 

DRAFT ORDINANCE 
 

ORDINANCE NO. XXXX 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA  
AMENDIGN MUNICIPAL CODE SECTIONS 17.96.170 AND 17.120.030  

AND ADDING SECTION 17.96.175  RELATED TO  
OUTDOOR DINING IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY 

 
WHEREAS, the State of California and Santa Cruz County established social distancing 

requirements in response to the COVID-19 pandemic that prohibited indoor dining at 
restaurants in Capitola; and 

 
WHEREAS, in response to the pandemic and social distancing orders, the City issued 

temporary use permits to local restaurants to provide outdoor dining; and 
 
WHEREAS, in 2020 and 2021 approximately 24 restaurants in Capitola were granted 

temporary use permits under this program to provide outdoor dining; and  
 
WHEREAS, on April 22, 2021, the City Council directed staff to develop a program for 

permanent outdoor dining and to bring the program back to the Council for review and possible 
adoption; 

 
WHEREAS, Municipal Code Section 17.96.170 contains existing requirements for temporary 

sidewalk dining in the public right-of-way; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed program for permanent outdoor dining would replace existing 

Municipal Code Section 17.96.170 with new standards to allow for street dining decks in 
addition to sidewalk dining;  

 
WHEREAS, the City aims to allow for streamlined approval of prototype street dining decks 

utilizing a design that has been preauthorized by the Planning Commission. 
 
WHEREAS, the City aims to balance the desire for permanent outdoor dining in the public 

4.C

Packet Pg. 63



 
 

 

right-of-way with adequate public parking and coastal access; 
 
WHEREAS, City staff consulted with Coastal Commission staff in the preparation of the 

Zoning Ordinance amendments to ensure that the proposed program and ordinance would 
comply with the California Coastal Act and Capitola’s Local Coastal Program; and 

  
WHEREAS, the proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments to allow for permanent outdoor 

dining in the public right-of-way qualify for the Exemption found at CEQA Guidelines Section 
15305 and 15311; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing on October 7, 

2021, at which time it reviewed the proposed amendments, considered all public comments on 
the revisions and related CEQA exemption, and provided a unanimous positive 
recommendation on the proposed ordinance; and  

 
WHEREAS, based upon the Planning Commission recommendation, the City Council 

determined that the amendments are consistent with the General Plan and that the revisions 
would be internally consistent with all other provisions of the Municipal Code.    
 

WHEREAS, the amendments would become a component of Implementation Plan of the 
City’s Local Coastal Program and is intended to be implemented in a manner that is in full 
conformance with the California Coastal Act.    

 
BE IT ORDAINED By the City of Capitola as follows: 

 
 Section 1. The above findings are adopted and incorporated herein. 
 

Section 2. Section 17.96.170 (Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way) of the Capitola 
Municipal Code is hereby amended to read as follows:  

 

17.96.170 Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way 

A. Purpose. This section establishes standards and permit requirements for outdoor dining in the 

public right-of-way. 

B. Definitions. 

1. Outdoor Dining.  “Outdoor dining” means and includes both sidewalk dining and street 

dining decks. 

2. Sidewalk Dining. “Sidewalk dining” means the use of an outdoor sidewalk area within 

the public-right-of-way, by a private business that is an eating and drinking establishment, 

for eating and drinking activities.  

3. Street Dining Deck. A street dining deck means a platform or similar level surface within 

the public right-of-way and extending beyond the curb and into a roadway or on-street 

parking area for use by a private business that is an eating or drinking establishment.   

a. Custom Street Dining Deck. A custom street dining deck is a street dining deck 

designed by the applicant.  

4.C

Packet Pg. 64



 
 

 

b. Prototype Street Dining Deck.  A prototype street dining deck is a street dining 

deck utilizing a design that has been preauthorized by the Planning Commission.  

C. Where Allowed. 

1. Sidewalk Dining. 

a. Sidewalk dining is allowed in the MU-N, MU-V, C-C, and C-R zoning districts. 

b. In the MU-V zoning district, sidewalk dining is allowed only on Monterey Avenue and 

on the Capitola Wharf. 

2. Street Dining Decks. Street dining decks are allowed only in the MU-V zoning district.  

D. Maximum Number of On-Street Parking Spaces. A maximum of 25 total on-street parking 

spaces may be used for street dining decks.  Spaces shall be allocated by the City Manager in 

accordance with administrative policies issued pursuant to this section. 

E. Permits and Approvals. 

1. Required Permits. Table 17.96-2 shows permits required for sidewalk dining and street 

dining decks.  

Table 17.96-2: Permits Required for Outdoor Dining in Public Right-of-way 

Type of Outdoor Dining Permit Required [2] 

[3] 

Zoning Code Chapter 

Sidewalk Dining Administrative Permit 17.116 

Street Dining Decks   

Prototype Street Dining Deck [1] Administrative Permit  17.116 

Custom Street Dining Deck Design Permit 17.120 

[1] Prototype dining deck designs are identified in the adopted Village Outdoor Dining Program 

Administrative Policy No. I-36. 

[2] Outdoor dining in the public right-of-way also requires an encroachment permit pursuant to 

Municipal Code Chapter 12.56. Minor encroachment permits for applications for prototype street 

dining decks may be issued by the Public Works Director and major encroachment permits for 

custom street dining decks may be issued by the Planning Commission. 

[3] A street dining deck or sidewalk dining area located in the coastal zone may require a coastal 

development permit (CDP) as specified in Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay Zone). 

 

2. Administrative Permit Standards.  All applications for an Administrative Permit are 

reviewed and acted on by the Community Development Director and must comply with 

the following standards: 

a. Any included street dining deck must be designed consistent with a prototype design 

approved by the Planning Commission. 

b. The sidewalk dining area or street dining deck must comply with all applicable 

requirements of this section, the Zoning Code, , and all other applicable laws, 

administrative policies, rules, and regulations. 

4.C

Packet Pg. 65



 
 

 

c. If located in the coastal zone, the sidewalk dining area or street dining deck is 

consistent with the Local Coastal Program and will not adversely impact coastal 

resources, coastal access, and coastal views. 

d. The street dining deck or sidewalk dining area must utilize high-quality, durable 

materials that are compatible with surrounding development and can withstand 

inclement weather. 

e. A prototype street dining decks must use a design authorized by a valid coastal 

development permit.   

3. Design Permit Findings. All applications for a Design Permit are viewed and acted on 

by the Planning Commission. Notwithstanding Municipal Code Section 17.120.080 

(Findings for Approval), the Planning Commission shall not make the Design Permit 

findings in Section 17.120.080, and instead shall make the following findings: 

a. The street dining deck complies with all applicable requirements of this section, the 

Zoning Code, and all other applicable laws, administrative policies, rules, and 

regulations. 

b. If located in the coastal zone, the street dining deck is consistent with the Local 

Coastal Program and will not adversely impact coastal resources, coastal access, and 

coastal views. 

c. The design of the street dining deck supports a safe, inviting, and lively public realm 

consistent with the purpose of the MU-V zoning district as provided in Section 

17.20.040 (Purpose of the Mixed Use Zoning Districts).  

d. The street dining deck materials include high-quality, durable materials that are 

compatible with surrounding development and can withstand inclement weather. 

4. Good Standing. In the past twenty-four months, the applicant has not been issued a 

notice of abatement, violation, or code enforcement related to an ABC license, 

entertainment permit, or use permit.  Any courtesy code enforcement notices received by 

the applicant was corrected by the applicant within the date specified on the courtesy 

notice.   

5. Other Permits and Approvals. 

a. Sidewalk and street dining decks are subject to all other permits, licenses and/ or 

entitlements required by State or local law. 

b. A street dining deck or sidewalk dining area located in the coastal zone may require a 

coastal development permit (CDP) as specified in Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay 

Zone). Approval of a CDP requires conformance with the CDP findings for approval 

as specified in Section 17.44.130 (Findings for approval). 

6. Use of Permit Fees in Coastal Zone. For sidewalk dining and street dining decks in the 

coastal zone, the City shall utilize no less that 50 percent of permit fees received for coastal 

access programs, maintenance, and improvements. 

F. Administrative Policies. 

4.C

Packet Pg. 66



 
 

 

1. The City Manager is authorized to issue administrative policies regarding the 

administration and leasing of the public right-of-way for sidewalk dining and street dining 

decks, including but not limited to the application and selection process for applicants, 

maintenance requirements, and other related policies.  

2. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this chapter and the administrative 

policy, the more restrictive requirement shall control.  

G. Operating and Development Standards. 

1. Must Serve Eating and Drinking Establishment. Outdoor dining in the public right-

of-way is allowed only when incidental to and a part of an “eating and drinking 

establishment” as defined in Chapter 17.160 (Glossary). 

2. One Facility Only. An eating establishment may have either sidewalk dining or a street 

dining deck. An eating establishment may not have both sidewalk dining and a street dining 

deck. 

3. Limited to Eating Establishment Frontage. 

a. Sidewalk dining is allowed on the sidewalk directly adjacent to the eating establishment 

street frontage. 

b. Street dining decks in the public right-of-way are only allowed on parking spaces that 

are: 

(1) Wholly or partially located in the right-of-way; and 

(2) Directly adjacent to the eating establishment street frontage unless authorized by 

paragraph (b) below. 

c. The City may allow an outdoor dining area to extend beyond the eating and drinking 

establishment frontage if:  

(1) Due to the road and parking space layout, the outdoor eating area cannot be 

designed without extending the area beyond immediately adjacent parking spaces;  

(2) Extending the outdoor dining area will not have significant impact on adjoining 

businesses as determined by the permit review authority; and  

(3) Extending the outdoor dining area will not adversely impact coastal access. 

4. Sidewalk Width. Outdoor dining areas in the public right-of-way shall provide a 

minimum clear width within the sidewalk of at least: 

a. 5 feet in the MU-V zoning district; and 

b. 4 feet in all other zoning districts.  

5. Signs. All signs associated with an outdoor dining area in the public right-of-way must 

comply with Zoning Code Chapter 17.80 (Signs).  

6. Trash and Maintenance. An outdoor dining area in the public right-of-way shall be 

maintained in a clean and safe condition as determined by the City. 

7. Amplified Sound. Amplified sound, including amplified music, is not allowed in an 

outdoor dining area. 

4.C

Packet Pg. 67



 
 

 

8. Bicycle Parking for Street Dining Decks. 

a. A street dining deck that eliminates an on-street parking space must include a bicycle 

parking rack integrated in the street dining deck design or within the private property 

of the eating or drinking establishment. 

b. The bicycle parking rack must provide a minimum of two bicycle parking spaces   for 

each eliminated vehicle parking space.  

9. Hours of Operation. 

a. Outdoor dining in the public right-of-way may occur between 7 a.m. and 10 p.m. 

seven days a week.   

b. The City may allow extended hours for street dining decks for special events and 

holidays. 

H. Enforcement. 

1. General. 

a. The City shall have all enforcement remedies permitted by law, including but not 

limited to those in Municipal Code Title 4 (General Municipal Code Enforcement). 

b. Any outdoor dining facility may be subject to inspection by the City on an annual basis 

or as needed to ensure compliance with this section, conditions of approval, and 

administrative procedures.  

c. The Community Development Director is authorized to issue administrative citations 

pursuant to Municipal Code Chapter 4.14 (Administrative Citations), in amounts set 

forth by separate resolution of the City Council.  

2. Revocation of Permit.  After a permit holder is issued a fourth administrative citation, the 

Community Development Director or Public Works Director may revoke any 

Administrative Permit and the Planning Commission may revoke any Design Permit.  

Grounds for revocation shall be the permit-holder’s lack of compliance with the 

requirements in this section or any permit issued pursuant to this section.  The decision 

regarding revocation is appealable pursuant to the procedures in Chapter 2.52 (Appeals to 

City Council). 

 
 
Section 3. Section 17.196.175: Outdoor Dining on Private Property within Chapter 17.96 of the 

Capitola Municipal Code is hereby added to read as follows:  
 

17.96.175  Outdoor Dining on Private Property 

A. Conditional Use Permit. An eating establishment may provide outdoor dining on private 

property with a Conditional Use Permit and consent of private property owner that such use is 

permitted on the property. 

 

4.C

Packet Pg. 68



 
 

 

B. Coastal Development Permit. Outdoor dining on private property in the coastal zone may 
require a Coastal Development Permit pursuant to Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay Zone) 
independent of and in addition to any other required permit or approval. 

 
 
Section 4. Section 17.120.030 (Design Permits – When Required) of Chapter 17.120 of the 

Capitola Municipal Code is hereby amended as underlined to read as follows:  
 

 
Chapter 17.120 Design Permits 

17.120.030 When Required 

C. Types of Projects.  The types of projects that require a Design Permit, and the type of Design 

Permit for each project, are listed in Table 17.120-1. If a type of development project or activity 

is not specifically listed in Table 17.120-1, a Design Permit is not required. 

 

4.C

Packet Pg. 69



 
 

 

 
TABLE 17.120-1:  PROJECTS REQUIRING DESIGN PERMITS 

Type of Project Type of Permit 

Single-Family Residential Projects 

Ground floor additions to existing single-family homes where the 
addition is visible from a public street and does not exceed 15 ft. in 
height, except for exempt additions (Section 17.120.030.B) 

Minor Design Permit 

Accessory structures greater than 10 ft. in height and/or 120 sq. ft. to 
300 sq. ft. 

Minor Design Permit 

Accessory structures greater than 300 sq. ft. Design Permit 

Upper floor decks and balconies on the side or rear of a home that are 
not adjacent to public open space 

Design Permit 

All rooftop decks Design Permit 

Upper floor additions to an existing single-family homes Design Permit 

New single-family homes Design Permit 

Multifamily Residential Projects 

Ground-floor additions less than 15% of total floor area of an existing 
multifamily structure 

Minor Design Permit 

Upper floor decks and balconies on the side or rear of a structure that 
are not adjacent to public open space 

Design Permit 

All rooftop decks Design Permit 

Accessory structures including garbage and recycling enclosures Minor Design Permit 

Ground-floor additions 15% of total floor area or more to an existing 
multifamily structure 

Design Permit 

Upper floor additions to an existing multifamily structure Design Permit 

New multifamily residential structures Design Permit 

Non-Residential Projects (Including Mixed-Use) 

Exterior modifications to an existing structure that do not increase the 
floor area of the structure 

Minor Design Permit 

Accessory structures 120 sq. ft. to 300 sq. ft.  including garbage and 
recycling enclosures 

Minor Design Permit 

Accessory structures greater than 300 sq. ft.  including garbage and 
recycling enclosures 

Design Permit 

Additions less than 15% of the floor area of an existing non-residential 
structure where the addition is not visible from the primary street 
frontage  

Minor Design Permit 

Additions 15% or more of the floor area of an existing non-residential 
structure where the addition is visible from the primary street frontage 

Design Permit 

Additions to an existing non-residential structure of 3,000 sq. ft. or 
more 

Design Permit 

New non-residential structures Design Permit 

Custom outdoor dining decks Design Permit 

 

D. Single-Family Exemptions. The following additions to a single-family dwelling are exempt 

from the Design Permit requirement: 

4.C

Packet Pg. 70



 
 

 

1. Ground-floor single-story additions up to 400 square feet at the rear of the home. 

2. Enclosure of an existing recessed entrance up to 25 square feet. 

3. Enclosure of an existing open porch up to 50 square feet. 

4. Installation of bay windows. 

5. A single accessory structures that does not exceed 120 square feet in floor area and 10 feet 

in height with no connection to water or sewer. 

6. Minor exterior modification or replacement of materials on an existing structure including 

siding, windows, doors, and roof. 

7. Other similar minor additions to a single-family dwelling as determined by the Community 

Development Director. 

8. Upper floor decks and balconies immediately adjacent to a street or public open space. 

E. Non-Residential Exemptions. 

1. Prototype outdoor dining decks that comply with Section 17.96.170 (Outdoor Dining in 

Public Right of Way) are exempt from the Design Permit requirement.  

 
 

Section 6: Compliance with California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
 

These Zoning Ordinance amendments are exempt from CEQA pursuant to Section 15305 and 
15311 of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  The Class 5 categorical 
exemption (Minor Alterations in Land Use Limitations) covers projects that consist of minor 
alterations in land use limitation in areas with an average slope of less than 20%, which do 
not result in any changes in land use or density. The Class 11 categorical exemption 
(Accessory Structures) covers projects that consist of construction or placement of minor 
structures that are accessory to existing commercial, industrial, or institutional facilities. The 
proposed project is consistent with these two exemptions, because the requested action will 
not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable change in the environment and because 
there is no possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on the 
environment. 
 
Section 7: Severability  
 
The City Council hereby declares every section, paragraph, sentence, cause, and phrase of this 
ordinance is severable. If any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this ordinance 
is for any reason found to be invalid or unconstitutional, such invalidity or unconstitutionality 
shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of the remaining sections, paragraphs, sentences, 
clauses, or phrases. 
 
Section 8: Effective Date  
 
This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect thirty (30) days from its passage and adoption 
except that it will not take effect within the coastal zone until certified by the California Coastal 
Commission.  This Ordinance shall be transmitted to the California Coastal Commission and 
shall take effect in the coastal zone immediately upon certification by the California Coastal 

4.C

Packet Pg. 71



 
 

 

Commission or upon the concurrence of the Commission with a determination by the Executive 
Director that the Ordinance adopted by the City is legally adequate. 
 
This ordinance was introduced on the __ day of ___, 2021, and passed first reading on the ___ 
day of ___, 2021,  and was adopted by the City Council of the City of Capitola on the ___ day of 
____, 2021, by the following vote:   
 
 
AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN:   

    APPROVED:  
 

_____________________________ 
        Yvette Brooks, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________ 
Chloe Woodmansee, City Clerk 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Capitola Street Frontage Dining Ordinance Noise Memo 
 
Prepared By: Katie Herlihy 
  Community Development Director 

4.C

Packet Pg. 72



 

 
DUDEK.COM 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Ms. Katie Herlihy, City of Capitola 

From: Jonathan V. Leech, INCE 

Subject: Noise Assessment 

Proposed Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way 

New Municipal Code Section 17.96.170 

Date: September 22, 2021 

cc: Stephanie Strelow, Dudek 

Attachment(s): DRAFT Municipal Code Section 17.96.170 

 

Introduction 

This memorandum presents the results of an assessment regarding the potential for impacts to existing noise-

sensitive land uses from the proposed allowance of outdoor dining areas associated with restaurant uses in the 

MU-N, MU-V, C-C, and C-R zoning districts of Capitola.  

Ordinance Overview 

The ordinance would allow a restaurant or café to offer an outdoor dining space to customers that would be 

located within the sidewalk area in front of the building or on a deck constructed to occupy the on-street parking 

spaces in front of the building.  Such outdoor dining area may not extend beyond the street frontage of the 

restaurant building, and a maximum of one option would be allowed per restaurant (i.e., either sidewalk area or 

parking space dining deck). With respect to dining decks, an applicant would have the option to propose a custom 

design or to employ a prototype design that has been preauthorized by the Planning Commission. 

Outdoor dining as described above would only be allowed in the MU-N, MU-V, C-C, and C-R zoning districts of the 

City of Capitola. Further, a maximum of 25 on-street parking spaces would be permitted in the City for conversion 

to restaurant dining decks. The permit process for a dining deck of custom design would require approval by the 

Planning Commission, whereas a proposal employing a prototype dining deck could be approved administratively.   

Under the proposed ordinance, outdoor dining in the public right of way would be limited to the hours between 7 

a.m. and 10 p.m.; extended hours may be allowed by the City for occasional special events and during holidays.  

Amplified sound would be prohibited in public right of way dining areas, including amplified music.  

Please refer to the complete draft version of Municipal Code Section 17.96.170 for additional details regarding the 

proposed outdoor dining allowance in the public right of way. 

4.C.1

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
 O

rd
in

an
ce

)



MEMORANDUM 

Noise Assessment of Proposed Municipal Code Section 17.170.19 - Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way 

September 22, 2021 

Page 2 

 

 

 

DUDEK.COM 

Fundamentals of Sound 

Although the terms may be used interchangeably in the right context, “sound” is defined as any gas or fluid pressure 

variation detected by the human ear, and “noise” is unwanted sound. A sound source generates an increase in the air 

pressure adjacent to the source, and the pressure travels through the air in all directions from the source as a wave; the 

ear then detects the pressure of the arriving wave, and this pressure is experienced as a sound level. The preferred unit 

for measuring sound is the decibel (dB), which by way of expressing the ratio of sound pressures to a reference value 

logarithmically enables a wide range of audible sound to be evaluated and discussed conveniently. On the low end of 

this range, zero dB is not the absence of sound energy, but instead corresponds approximately to the threshold of 

average healthy human hearing; and, on the upper end, 120–140 dB corresponds to an average person’s threshold of 

pain. 

The human ear is not equally responsive to all frequencies of the audible sound spectrum. An electronic filter is normally 

used when taking noise measurements that de-emphasizes certain frequencies in a manner that mimics the human 

ear’s response to sound; this method is referred to as A-weighting. Sound levels expressed under the A-weighted system 

are sometimes designated dBA. All sound levels discussed in this report are A-weighted. 

The equivalent continuous sound level (Leq) is a single dB value which, if held constant during the specified time period, 

would represent the same total acoustical energy of a fluctuating noise level over that same time period. Leq values are 

commonly expressed for periods of one hour, but longer or shorter time periods may be specified. Another descriptor is 

the Day Night Average Noise Level (Ldn), which is a 24-hour weighted average often referenced for community noise 

management.  The Ldn average is based upon the measured hourly Leq values for each hour between 7 a.m. and 10 p.m., 

and to account for increased sensitivity to noise in the overnight period, 10 dB is added to the average hourly sound 

levels for each of the hours in this overnight period.  CNEL is another 24-hour weighted average, which is similar to Ldn  

except that 5 dB is also added to each of the hourly average noise levels between 7 p.m. and 10 p.m. For comparison, a 

noise source of 58 dBA Leq that is constant throughout the day and night would result in a CNEL or Ldn of 65 dBA. 

In the outdoor environment, noise from a stationary source lessens (or attenuates) by 6 dB with each doubling of distance 

from the source.  This occurs because the energy in the sound wave is depleted as it travels through the air. By way of 

example, noise measured to be 66 dBA at 5 feet from the source outdoors would reduce to 60 dBA at 10 feet from the 

sound source. 

Because sound levels are based on a logarithmic scale, the addition, subtraction, and averaging of sound levels must 

employ logarithmic based formulas rather than arithmetic equations. For example, 60 dBA + 60 dBA = 63 dBA (not 120 

dBA).  For outdoor noise levels in the community, 3 dBA is the threshold for a new source to be barely noticeable above 

ambient levels by a person with health hearing, while a 5 dBA increase would be clearly noticeable.  For instance, a new 

noise source of 65 dBA would be barely noticeable where background levels are 62 dBA; a new noise source of 67 dBA 

would be clearly noticeable where ambient levels are only 62 dBA. 

Noise Regulation in Capitola 

The City of Capitola General Plan Noise Element establishes an exterior noise exposure limit for single-family residential 

uses of 60 dBA Ldn and a limit of 65 dBA Ldn for multi-family residences and lodging facilities. 

4.C.1

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
 O

rd
in

an
ce

)



MEMORANDUM 

Noise Assessment of Proposed Municipal Code Section 17.170.19 - Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way 

September 22, 2021 

Page 3 

 

 

 

DUDEK.COM 

The Capitola noise ordinance (Municipal Code Chapter 9.12) prohibits the generation of loud, irritating or boisterous 

noise within 200 feet of any residence or lodging facility; no noise level limit is identified in connection with such 

restrictions.  

Commercial Dining Sound Levels 

The proposed allowance of outdoor dining areas would only be associated with an existing restaurant or café, as 

an incidental or accessory use to the main establishment.  As such, cooking and food preparation activities would 

be restricted to the existing indoor areas of the restaurant or café associated with the outdoor dining area. In 

addition, amplified sound would not be permitted in the outdoor dining area.  Consequently, noise generating 

activity in the outdoor dining areas would consist of eating and conversation between diners. 

The Noise Navigator Sound Level Database (Version 1.8 2016) provides several sound level references for 

restaurant dining areas.  Sound levels vary from 50 dBA Leq for an elegant bistro, to 60 dBA Leq for an average 

family style restaurant, to 65 dBA Leq for a half-full casual dining restaurant.  These measurements are indoors, 

and no distance is specified from the measurement point to the closest table or to the center of the dining area.  

One sound level reference is provided for an outdoor dining area, with 52 dBA Leq identified for “people eating and 

talking” at 45 feet from the edge of the dining area. Using the standard formula for sound attenuation outdoors, 

this would equate to a sound level of approximately 76 dBA Leq at 3 feet from the edge of the dining area. 

A common sound level reference is 60 dBA Leq for normal conversation between 2 people at a distance of 3 feet 

(Physics, Paul A. Tipler, 1976).  Doubling the number of people in the conversation, the sound level would be 

approximately 63 dBA Leq at 3 feet.  Assuming 32 diners in an outdoor dining area, all engaged in conversation, 

the sound level would be approximately 72 dBA at 3 feet.  This compares favorably to the sound level reference 

derived for people eating and speaking in an outdoor dining area, converted to a distance of 3 feet.   

Based upon the above, this assessment uses a reference sound level of 76 dBA Leq at 3 feet to represent the 

sound level from outdoor dining areas with a capacity of up to 32 persons. 

Potential Public Right of Way Dining Areas in C-R and C-C Zones 

Within the C-R zone, there is only one area where a residential property is adjacent to a location where street 

frontage dining could be introduced under the proposed ordinance. This location is at the northeast corner of 41st 

Street and Capitola Road.  The closest residence to street frontage adjacent to Whole Foods Market/Cafe on 

Capitola Road is at approximately 50 feet.  Dining noise at this distance would be no more than 48 dBA Leq 

compared to a traffic noise level of approximately 58 dBA Leq (converted from CNEL, Capitola General Plan 2019, 

Figure SN-6). 

Within the C-C zone south of Capitola Road, residences exist across 49th Street east of the C-C zone boundary, but 

there are no restaurants in this vicinity.  Residences also exist on the north and south side of Reposa Avenue 

adjacent to the C-C zone boundary, but there are also no existing restaurants in this area.  For the C-C zone 

centered along Bay Avenue, residences are located along the south side of Center Street, but existing commercial 

development extends to the north side of the right of way, and space to establish outdoor dining does not exist.  

Residences are also on the north and south sides of Hill Street, adjacent to the east side of the C-C zone, but 

there are no existing restaurants in this vicinity. 

4.C.1

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
 O

rd
in

an
ce

)



MEMORANDUM 

Noise Assessment of Proposed Municipal Code Section 17.170.19 - Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way 

September 22, 2021 

Page 4 

 

 

 

DUDEK.COM 

Consequently, the potential creation and operation of sidewalk or parking area dining decks associated with 

restaurants in the C-C and C-R zone districts would not be anticipated to result in noticeable noise levels at 

existing nearby residences. 

Potential Public Right of Way Dining Areas in MU-N Zone 

The MU-N zone is characterized chiefly by a single row of parcels aligned along an arterial roadway.  Residences 

are typically located on the parcels “behind” the MU-N boundary, where the MU-N use separates the residences 

from the busy street frontage.  Because the outdoor dining areas contemplated under the proposed ordinance 

would only be allowed on the sidewalk or street frontage in front of an existing restaurant building, the restaurant 

building would provide an effective barrier to prevent dining noise from reaching the adjacent residences.   

Consequently, the potential creation and operation of sidewalk or parking area dining decks associated with 

restaurants in the MU-N zone district would not be anticipated to result in noticeable noise levels at existing 

nearby residences. 

Potential Public Right of Way Dining Areas in MU-V Zone 

In the MU-V zone, there are residences both “behind” restaurants and across the street from restaurants. 

Residences behind an existing restaurant would be shielded from dining noise associated with an allowed outdoor 

dining area in the front of an existing restaurant, by virtue of the restaurant building itself providing a noise 

barrier. Residences located across the street from an existing restaurant would not be located closer than 

approximately 25 feet from the potential dining area, given the width of streets in the MU-V zone. 

At a distance of 25 feet, outdoor dining noise from a group of 32 diners would be approximately 54 dBA Leq. This 

noise level would be generally equivalent to the noise associated with traffic along Capitola Avenue, Stockton 

Avenue, and Monterey Avenue within the MU-V zone (interpreted to be 53 dBA Leq as converted from CNEL, 

Capitola General Plan 2019, Figure SN-6).  During periods of very light traffic on roadways in the MU-V, dining 

conversation noise may be audible at nearby residences, but should not constitute a loud, irritating or boisterous 

noise. 

In addition, based upon a constant noise level of 54 dBA Leq - outdoor dining noise levels at the closest residences 

in the MU-V zone would result in a CNEL of 54 dBA, based on the proposed operating schedule limitation to the 

hours between 7 a.m. to 10 p.m. 

Consequently, the potential creation and operation of sidewalk or parking area dining decks associated with 

restaurants in the MU-V zone district would not be anticipated to result in substantial increases in noise levels at 

existing nearby residences. 

Conclusion Regarding Noise Impacts 

While the Capitola noise ordinance (Municipal Code Chapter 9.12) prohibits the generation of loud, irritating or boisterous 

noise within 200 feet of any residence or lodging facility; no noise level limit is identified in connection with such 

restrictions. Based on the analysis discussed above, the potential creation and operation of sidewalk or parking area 

dining decks associated with restaurants in the C-C and C-R and MU-N zone districts would not be anticipated to result 

4.C.1

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
 O

rd
in

an
ce

)



MEMORANDUM 

Noise Assessment of Proposed Municipal Code Section 17.170.19 - Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way 

September 22, 2021 

Page 5 

 

 

 

DUDEK.COM 

in noticeable noise levels at existing nearby residences or lodging facilities due to limited noise generation from dining 

and given existing ambient noise levels in these areas. In the MU-V zone district, the potential creation and operation of 

sidewalk or parking area dining decks associated with restaurants would not be anticipated to result in substantial 

increases in noise levels at existing nearby residences or lodging facilities (i.e., dining noise levels experienced at 

residences or lodging  facilities would not be anticipated to exceed 3 dBA over ambient levels). Consequently noise 

impacts upon noise-sensitive land uses from adoption of the proposed ordinance are anticipated to be less than 

significant. 

 

4.C.1

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
 O

rd
in

an
ce

)



1 
 

17.96.170 Outdoor Dining in Public Right of Way 

A. Purpose. This section establishes standards and permit requirements for outdoor dining in the 

public right-of-way. 

B. Definitions. 

1. Outdoor Dining.  “Outdoor dining” means and includes both sidewalk dining and street 

dining decks. 

2. Sidewalk Dining. “Sidewalk dining” means the use of an outdoor sidewalk area within the 

public-right-of-way, by a private business that is an eating and drinking establishment, for 

eating and drinking activities.  

3. Street Dining Deck. A street dining deck means a platform or similar level surface within 

the public right-of-way and extending beyond the curb and into a roadway or on-street 

parking area for use by a private business that is an eating or drinking establishment.   

a. Custom Street Dining Deck. A custom street dining deck is a street dining deck 

designed by the applicant.  

b. Prototype Street Dining Deck.  A prototype street dining deck is a street dining deck 

utilizing a design that has been preauthorized by the Planning Commission.  

C. Where Allowed. 

1. Sidewalk Dining. 

a. Sidewalk dining is allowed in the MU-N, MU-V, C-C, and C-R zoning districts. 

b. In the MU-V zoning district, sidewalk dining is allowed only on Monterey Avenue and 

on the Capitola Wharf. 

2. Street Dining Decks. Street dining decks are allowed only in the MU-V zoning district.  

D. Maximum Number of On-Street Parking Spaces. A maximum of 25 total on-street parking 

spaces may be used for street dining decks.  Spaces shall be allocated by the City Manager in 

accordance with administrative policies issued pursuant to this section. 

E. Permits and Approvals. 

1. Required Permits. Table 17.96-2 shows permits required for sidewalk dining and street 

dining decks.  

  

4.C.1

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
 O

rd
in

an
ce

)



2 
 

Table 17.96-2: Permits Required for Outdoor Dining in Public Right-of-way 

Type of Outdoor Dining Permit Required [2] 

[3] 

Zoning Code Chapter 

Sidewalk Dining Administrative Permit 17.116 

Street Dining Decks   

Prototype Street Dining Deck [1] Administrative Permit  17.116 

Custom Street Dining Deck Design Permit 17.120 

[1] Prototype dining deck designs are identified in the adopted Village Outdoor Dining Program 

Administrative Policy No. I-36. 

[2] Outdoor dining in the public right-of-way also requires an encroachment permit pursuant to 

Municipal Code Chapter 12.56. Minor encroachment permits for applications for prototype street 

dining decks may be issued by the Public Works Director and major encroachment permits for 

custom street dining decks may be issued by the Planning Commission. 

[3] A street dining deck or sidewalk dining area located in the coastal zone may require a coastal 

development permit (CDP) as specified in Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay Zone). 

 

2. Administrative Permit Standards.  All applications for an Administrative Permit are 

reviewed and acted on by the Community Development Director and must comply with the 

following standards: 

a. Any included street dining deck must be designed consistent with a prototype design 

approved by the Planning Commission. 

b. The sidewalk dining area or street dining deck must comply with all applicable 

requirements of this section, the Zoning Code, , and all other applicable laws, 

administrative policies, rules, and regulations. 

c. If located in the coastal zone, the sidewalk dining area or street dining deck is consistent 

with the Local Coastal Program and will not adversely impact coastal resources, coastal 

access, and coastal views. 

d. The street dining deck or sidewalk dining area must utilize high-quality, durable materials 

that are compatible with surrounding development and can withstand inclement 

weather. 

e. A prototype street dining decks must use a design authorized by a valid coastal 

development permit.   

3. Design Permit Findings. All applications for a Design Permit are viewed and acted on by 

the Planning Commission. Notwithstanding Municipal Code Section 17.120.080 (Findings 

for Approval), the Planning Commission shall not make the Design Permit findings in 

Section 17.120.080, and instead shall make the following findings: 

a. The street dining deck complies with all applicable requirements of this section, the 

Zoning Code, and all other applicable laws, administrative policies, rules, and 

regulations. 

4.C.1

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
 O

rd
in

an
ce

)



3 
 

b. If located in the coastal zone, the street dining deck is consistent with the Local Coastal 

Program and will not adversely impact coastal resources, coastal access, and coastal 

views. 

c. The design of the street dining deck supports a safe, inviting, and lively public realm 

consistent with the purpose of the MU-V zoning district as provided in Section 

17.20.040 (Purpose of the Mixed Use Zoning Districts).  

d. The street dining deck materials include high-quality, durable materials that are 

compatible with surrounding development and can withstand inclement weather. 

4. Good Standing. In the past twenty-four months, the applicant has not been issued a notice 

of abatement, violation, or code enforcement related to an ABC license, entertainment 

permit, or use permit.  Any courtesy code enforcement notices received by the applicant was 

corrected by the applicant within the date specified on the courtesy notice.   

5. Other Permits and Approvals. 

a. Sidewalk and street dining decks are subject to all other permits, licenses and/ or 

entitlements required by State or local law. 

b. A street dining deck or sidewalk dining area located in the coastal zone may require a 

coastal development permit (CDP) as specified in Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay 

Zone). Approval of a CDP requires conformance with the CDP findings for approval 

as specified in Section 17.44.130 (Findings for approval). 

6. Use of Permit Fees in Coastal Zone. For sidewalk dining and street dining decks in the 

coastal zone, the City shall utilize no less that 50 percent of permit fees received for coastal 

access programs, maintenance, and improvements. 

F. Administrative Policies. 

1. The City Manager is authorized to issue administrative policies regarding the administration 

and leasing of the public right-of-way for sidewalk dining and street dining decks, including 

but not limited to the application and selection process for applicants, maintenance 

requirements, and other related policies.  

2. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this chapter and the administrative 

policy, the more restrictive requirement shall control.  

G. Operating and Development Standards. 

1. Must Serve Eating and Drinking Establishment. Outdoor dining in the public right-of-

way is allowed only when incidental to and a part of an “eating and drinking establishment” 

as defined in Chapter 17.160 (Glossary). 

2. One Facility Only. An eating establishment may have either sidewalk dining or a street 

dining deck. An eating establishment may not have both sidewalk dining and a street dining 

deck. 

3. Limited to Eating Establishment Frontage. 

4.C.1

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
 O

rd
in

an
ce

)



4 
 

a. Sidewalk dining is allowed on the sidewalk directly adjacent to the eating establishment 

street frontage. 

b. Street dining decks in the public right-of-way are only allowed on parking spaces that 

are: 

(1) Wholly or partially located in the right-of-way; and 

(2) Directly adjacent to the eating establishment street frontage unless authorized by 

paragraph (b) below. 

c. The City may allow an outdoor dining area to extend beyond the eating and drinking 

establishment frontage if:  

(1) Due to the road and parking space layout, the outdoor eating area cannot be 

designed without extending the area beyond immediately adjacent parking spaces;  

(2) Extending the outdoor dining area will not have significant impact on adjoining 

businesses as determined by the permit review authority; and  

(3) Extending the outdoor dining area will not adversely impact coastal access. 

4. Sidewalk Width. Outdoor dining areas in the public right-of-way shall provide a minimum 

clear width within the sidewalk of at least: 

a. 5 feet in the MU-V zoning district; and 

b. 4 feet in all other zoning districts.  

5. Signs. All signs associated with an outdoor dining area in the public right-of-way must 

comply with Zoning Code Chapter 17.80 (Signs).  

6. Trash and Maintenance. An outdoor dining area in the public right-of-way shall be 

maintained in a clean and safe condition as determined by the City. 

7. Amplified Sound. Amplified sound, including amplified music, is not allowed in an outdoor 

dining area. 

8. Bicycle Parking for Street Dining Decks. 

a. A street dining deck that eliminates an on-street parking space must include a bicycle 

parking rack integrated in the street dining deck design or within the private property of 

the eating or drinking establishment. 

b. The bicycle parking rack must provide a minimum of two bicycle parking spaces   for 

each eliminated vehicle parking space.  

9. Hours of Operation. 

a. Outdoor dining in the public right-of-way may occur between 7 a.m. and 10 p.m. seven 

days a week.   

b. The City may allow extended hours for street dining decks for special events and 

holidays. 

H. Enforcement. 

1. General. 

4.C.1

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
 O

rd
in

an
ce

)



5 
 

a. The City shall have all enforcement remedies permitted by law, including but not limited 

to those in Municipal Code Title 4 (General Municipal Code Enforcement). 

b. Any outdoor dining facility may be subject to inspection by the City on an annual basis 

or as needed to ensure compliance with this section, conditions of approval, and 

administrative procedures.  

c. The Community Development Director is authorized to issue administrative citations 

pursuant to Municipal Code Chapter 4.14 (Administrative Citations), in amounts set 

forth by separate resolution of the City Council.  

2. Revocation of Permit.  After a permit holder is issued a fourth administrative citation, the 

Community Development Director or Public Works Director may revoke any 

Administrative Permit and the Planning Commission may revoke any Design Permit.  

Grounds for revocation shall be the permit-holder’s lack of compliance with the 

requirements in this section or any permit issued pursuant to this section.  The decision 

regarding revocation is appealable pursuant to the procedures in Chapter 2.52 (Appeals to 

City Council). 

 

17.96.175  Outdoor Dining on Private Property 

A. Conditional Use Permit. An eating establishment may provide outdoor dining on private 

property with a Conditional Use Permit and consent of private property owner that such use is 

permitted on the property. 

 

B. Coastal Development Permit. Outdoor dining on private property in the coastal zone may 
require a Coastal Development Permit pursuant to Chapter 17.44 (Coastal Overlay Zone) 
independent of and in addition to any other required permit or approval. 

 

Chapter 17.120 Design Permits 

17.120.030 When Required 

C. Types of Projects.  The types of projects that require a Design Permit, and the type of Design 

Permit for each project, are listed in Table 17.120-1. If a type of development project or activity 

is not specifically listed in Table 17.120-1, a Design Permit is not required. 

 

  

4.C.1

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
 O

rd
in

an
ce

)



6 
 

TABLE 17.120-1:  PROJECTS REQUIRING DESIGN PERMITS 

Type of Project Type of Permit 

Single-Family Residential Projects 

Ground floor additions to existing single-family homes where the addition is 

visible from a public street and does not exceed 15 ft. in height, except for 

exempt additions (Section 17.120.030.B) 

Minor Design Permit 

Accessory structures greater than 10 ft. in height and/or 120 sq. ft. to 300 sq. ft. Minor Design Permit 

Accessory structures greater than 300 sq. ft. Design Permit 

Upper floor decks and balconies on the side or rear of a home that are not 

adjacent to public open space 

Design Permit 

All rooftop decks Design Permit 

Upper floor additions to an existing single-family homes Design Permit 

New single-family homes Design Permit 

Multifamily Residential Projects 

Ground-floor additions less than 15% of total floor area of an existing 

multifamily structure 

Minor Design Permit 

Upper floor decks and balconies on the side or rear of a structure that are not 

adjacent to public open space 

Design Permit 

All rooftop decks Design Permit 

Accessory structures including garbage and recycling enclosures Minor Design Permit 

Ground-floor additions 15% of total floor area or more to an existing 

multifamily structure 

Design Permit 

Upper floor additions to an existing multifamily structure Design Permit 

New multifamily residential structures Design Permit 

Non-Residential Projects (Including Mixed-Use) 

Exterior modifications to an existing structure that do not increase the floor area 

of the structure 

Minor Design Permit 

Accessory structures 120 sq. ft. to 300 sq. ft.  including garbage and recycling 

enclosures 

Minor Design Permit 

Accessory structures greater than 300 sq. ft.  including garbage and recycling 

enclosures 

Design Permit 

Additions less than 15% of the floor area of an existing non-residential structure 

where the addition is not visible from the primary street frontage  

Minor Design Permit 

Additions 15% or more of the floor area of an existing non-residential structure 

where the addition is visible from the primary street frontage 

Design Permit 

Additions to an existing non-residential structure of 3,000 sq. ft. or more Design Permit 

New non-residential structures Design Permit 

Custom outdoor dining decks Design Permit 

 

D. Single-Family Exemptions. The following additions to a single-family dwelling are exempt 

from the Design Permit requirement: 

4.C.1

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
 O

rd
in

an
ce

)



7 
 

1. Ground-floor single-story additions up to 400 square feet at the rear of the home. 

2. Enclosure of an existing recessed entrance up to 25 square feet. 

3. Enclosure of an existing open porch up to 50 square feet. 

4. Installation of bay windows. 

5. A single accessory structures that does not exceed 120 square feet in floor area and 10 feet 

in height with no connection to water or sewer. 

6. Minor exterior modification or replacement of materials on an existing structure including 

siding, windows, doors, and roof. 

7. Other similar minor additions to a single-family dwelling as determined by the Community 

Development Director. 

8. Upper floor decks and balconies immediately adjacent to a street or public open space. 

E. Non-Residential Exemptions. 

1. Prototype outdoor dining decks that comply with Section 17.96.170 (Outdoor Dining in 

Public Right of Way) are exempt from the Design Permit requirement.  

 

 

4.C.1

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

ap
it

o
la

 S
tr

ee
t 

F
ro

n
ta

g
e 

D
in

in
g

 O
rd

in
an

ce
 N

o
is

e 
M

em
o

  (
A

m
en

d
m

en
ts

 t
o

 O
u

td
o

o
r 

D
in

in
g

 a
n

d
 D

es
ig

n
 P

er
m

it
 O

rd
in

an
ce

)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: OCTOBER 7, 2021 
 
SUBJECT: Presentation on Nonconforming Structures and Permissible Structural 
Alterations     
 

Discussion on non-conforming structures and permissible structural 
alterations. 
Representative: Katie Herlihy, Community Development Director 

 
BACKGROUND 
In 1993, Municipal Code Chapter 17.92 Nonconforming Uses was adopted.  This section of 
code is currently in effect citywide.   
 
In 2018, the City adopted an updated zoning code with a new chapter on Nonconforming 
Structures and Nonconforming Uses.  After adopting the zoning code, the City began working 
with Coastal Commission staff to certify the code.   
 
In March of 2018, the Coastal Commission published the Sea Level Rise Adaptation Guide for 
Residential Development.  This document, although not yet formally adopted, took a much 
different approach to nonconforming structures within the Coastal Zone.  The guide created new 
thresholds for when a development proposal become a redevelopment and must come into 
conformance with all coastal resource protection policies and Local Coastal Plan. The new sea 
level rise document has been controversial and yet to be officially adopted by the Coastal 
Commission, in part due to a 50 percent threshold for redevelopment and including all 
improvement on a property in the valuation since the Coastal Act came into effect. 
 
In April of 2018, city staff submitted the updated zoning code to the Coastal Commission staff 
for review.  Coastal staff provided redlines to the City for the majority of the zoning code, except 
for the two chapters on geologic hazards and non-conforming uses and structures.  The Coastal 
Staff recommended City consult the Seal Level Rise adaptation guide and review recent 
recommendations made to Marin County which included sea level rise adaptation guide 
strategies for residential development, specifically focused on coastal retreat.    
 
Since the Sea Level Rise Adaptation Guide had not been adopted, Coastal Commission staff 
and City staff agreed to remove the updated chapter as it would likely hold up the certification of 
the updated Zoning Code.  Currently, the 1993 version of the Non-Conforming use chapter 
continues to apply citywide.   
 

4.D

Packet Pg. 85



 
 

 

During the August 19, 2021, Planning Commission meeting, Commissioner Newman requested 
an overview on the code section for permissible structural alteration to non-conforming 
structures.    
 
DISCUSSION 
Section 17.92.070 for permissible structural alterations reads as follows:   

“Structural alterations of nonconforming structures, as defined in Section 17.160.020, 
shall be limited as follows: at the time application for a structural alteration is made, 
the building official shall determine the cost at prevailing contractor rates of the total 
work of the improvements involved, excluding permit costs, landscaping costs and 
architectural costs. If that cost, added to the costs (similarly calculated) of other work 
involving structural alterations, commenced in the preceding five years, exceeds eighty 
percent of the present fair market value of the structure (as it would be without any of the 
structural alterations), the proposed structural alterations may not be made.” 

 
The building official currently utilizes the following values for values/costs: 
 
Existing residence:  $200/square foot 
Existing garage:   $90/square foot 
Existing deck:   $25/square foot 
New conditioned space: $200/square foot 
New garage:    $90/square foot 
New deck    $25 square foot 
Remodel Costs     (50% of new construction costs) 
Remodel cond. space   $100/square foot 
Remodel garage    $45/square foot 
Remodel deck     $12.50 square foot. 
 
The calculation requires an applicant to come into compliance with the development standards if 
a development application exceeds 80 percent of present fair market value.  Three examples 
are included as attachments of different scenarios for a 1,000 square foot home that has a 200 
square foot garage and a 100 square foot deck. Scenario one shows a property owner can 
remodel the entire structure and would be at 50% of existing value.  Scenario two shows that a 
property owner could remodel their entire structure and add a 33 percent addition and be at the 
80% maximum.  Scenario three shows no remodel with an 80% increase in square footage for 
additions would result in an 80% valuation.  The outcome of the calculation is that a non-
conforming structure may be remodeled in its entirety but is limited in the amount of square 
footage allowed for an addition. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Example 1  Full remodel 
2. Example 2. Full remodel with 33 percent addition 
3. Example 3.  80% Addition 

 
Prepared By: Katie Herlihy 
  Community Development Director 

4.D

Packet Pg. 86

https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=155
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=106
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/#!/Capitola17/Capitola17160.html#17.160.020
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=103
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=019
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=085
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=155
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=156
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=155


Existing Building Costs:

Existing Residence: 1000 square feet = 200,000.00$      
200.00$         square foot

Exisiting Garage: 200 square feet = 18,000.00$        
90.00$           square foot

Existing Deck: 100 square feet = 2,500.00$          
25.00$           square foot

220,500.00$      

176,400.00$      

New Construction Costs:

New Conditioned Space: square feet =
200.00$         square foot

New Garage: square feet =
90.00$           square foot

New deck/porch: square feet =
25.00$           square foot

 

Remodel Costs: (50% of "new construction" costs)

Remodel Conditioned Space: 1000 square feet = 100,000.00$      
100.00$         square foot

Remodel Garage: 200 square feet = 9,000.00$          
45.00$           square foot

Remodel Deck: 100 square feet = 1,250.00$          
12.50$           square foot

110,250.00$      

110,250.00$      

% of Existing Value 50.0%

CONSTRUCTION COST BREAKDOWN PER Section 17.92.070

Total Construction/Remodel Cost

STAFF

Total Existing Value:

80% of Total Existing Value

Total New Construction Value:

Total Remodel Value:

4.D.1

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xa
m

p
le

 1
  F

u
ll 

re
m

o
d

el
  (

N
o

n
C

o
n

fo
rm

in
g

 S
tr

u
ct

u
re

s)



Existing Building Costs:

Existing Residence: 1000 square feet = 200,000.00$      
200.00$         square foot

Exisiting Garage: 200 square feet = 18,000.00$        
90.00$           square foot

Existing Deck: 100 square feet = 2,500.00$          
25.00$           square foot

220,500.00$      

176,400.00$      

New Construction Costs:

New Conditioned Space: 330 square feet = 66,000.00$        
200.00$         square foot

New Garage: square feet =
90.00$           square foot

New deck/porch: square feet =
25.00$           square foot

66,000.00$        

Remodel Costs: (50% of "new construction" costs)

Remodel Conditioned Space: 1000 square feet = 100,000.00$      
100.00$         square foot

Remodel Garage: 200 square feet = 9,000.00$          
45.00$           square foot

Remodel Deck: 100 square feet = 1,250.00$          
12.50$           square foot

110,250.00$      

176,250.00$      

% of Existing Value 79.9%

CONSTRUCTION COST BREAKDOWN PER Section 17.92.070

Total Construction/Remodel Cost

STAFF

Total Existing Value:

80% of Total Existing Value

Total New Construction Value:

Total Remodel Value:

4.D.2

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xa
m

p
le

 2
. F

u
ll 

re
m

o
d

el
 w

it
h

 3
3 

p
er

ce
n

t 
ad

d
it

io
n

  (
N

o
n

C
o

n
fo

rm
in

g
 S

tr
u

ct
u

re
s)



Existing Building Costs:

Existing Residence: 1000 square feet = 200,000.00$      
200.00$         square foot

Exisiting Garage: 200 square feet = 18,000.00$        
90.00$           square foot

Existing Deck: 100 square feet = 2,500.00$          
25.00$           square foot

220,500.00$      

176,400.00$      

New Construction Costs:

New Conditioned Space: 800 square feet = 160,000.00$      
200.00$         square foot

New Garage: 160 square feet = 14,400.00$        
90.00$           square foot

New deck/porch: 80 square feet = 2,000.00$          
25.00$           square foot

176,400.00$      

Remodel Costs: (50% of "new construction" costs)

Remodel Conditioned Space: square feet =
100.00$         square foot

Remodel Garage: square feet =
45.00$           square foot

Remodel Deck: square feet =
12.50$           square foot

 

176,400.00$      

% of Existing Value 80.0%

CONSTRUCTION COST BREAKDOWN PER Section 17.92.070

Total Construction/Remodel Cost

STAFF

Total Existing Value:

80% of Total Existing Value

Total New Construction Value:

Total Remodel Value:

4.D.3

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xa
m

p
le

 3
.  

80
%

 A
d

d
it

io
n

  (
N

o
n

C
o

n
fo

rm
in

g
 S

tr
u

ct
u

re
s)


	Agenda Packet
	1. Roll Call and Pledge of Allegiance
	2. Oral Communications
	A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda
	B. Public Comments
	C. Commission Comments
	D. Staff Comments

	3. Consent Calendar
	A. 1500 Wharf Road
	Printout: 1500 Wharf Road


	4. Public Hearings
	A. 1425 49th Avenue
	Printout: 1425 49th Avenue
	1. 1425 49th Avenue - Plan Set
	2. 1425 49th Avenue - Landscape & Materials Info
	3. Design Permit Design Review Criteria

	B. Prototype ADU Program
	Printout: Prototype ADU Program
	1. Capitola Prototype ADUs First Draft

	C. Amendments to Outdoor Dining and Design Permit Ordinance
	Printout: Amendments to Outdoor Dining and Design Permit Ordinance
	1. Capitola Street Frontage Dining Ordinance Noise Memo

	D. NonConforming Structures
	Printout: NonConforming Structures
	1. Example 1  Full remodel
	2. Example 2. Full remodel with 33 percent addition
	3. Example 3.  80% Addition


	5. Director's Report
	6. Commission Communications
	7. Adjournment

	Appendix
	3.A · 1500 Wharf Road
	4.A · 1425 49th Avenue
	4.A.1 · 1425 49th Avenue - Plan Set
	4.A.2 · 1425 49th Avenue - Landscape & Materials Info
	4.A.3 · Design Permit Design Review Criteria

	4.B · Prototype ADU Program
	4.B.1 · Capitola Prototype ADUs First Draft

	4.C · Amendments to Outdoor Dining and Design Permit Ordinance
	4.C.1 · Capitola Street Frontage Dining Ordinance Noise Memo

	4.D · NonConforming Structures
	4.D.1 · Example 1  Full remodel
	4.D.2 · Example 2. Full remodel with 33 percent addition
	4.D.3 · Example 3.  80% Addition



